Western University Scholarship@Western

Digitized Theses

Digitized Special Collections

2011

GENERATION OF LONG-LIVED DENDRITIC CELLS FOR A DENDRITIC CELL-BASED THERAPEUTIC HIV VACCINE

Ryan Nicholas Buensuceso

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses

Recommended Citation

Buensuceso, Ryan Nicholas, "GENERATION OF LONG-LIVED DENDRITIC CELLS FOR A DENDRITIC CELL-BASED THERAPEUTIC HIV VACCINE" (2011). *Digitized Theses*. 3390. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses/3390

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Digitized Special Collections at Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Digitized Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

GENERATION OF LONG-LIVED DENDRITIC CELLS FOR A DENDRITIC CELL-BASED THERAPEUTIC HIV VACCINE

(Spine title: GENERATION OF LONG-LIVED DENDRITIC CELLS)

(Thesis format: Monograph)

by

Ryan N. Buensuceso

Graduate Program in Microbiology and Immunology

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Ryan N. Buensuceso 2011

A State of the state of the THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO SCHOOL OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION

-Cases a sub-sector to first que, un place invertere definition de devices

Supervisor	Examiners
	. Aleb Andre Breyne wither the I'mp
Dr. Gregory Dekaban	Dr. Ewa Cairns
Supervisory Committee	Dr. Robert Gros and areas in a second
Dr. Stephen Barr	Dr. Vincent Morris

Dr. Joé Mymryk ya wiereka zaja in azwasala informatika katena in adabilareka ini ina

where the second constraints are used when the second second second second second second second second second s

where the divident to a local difference on The thesis by the tables at her owned and the divident

as privately located in intercontrict to other in opening DC between, where or other

Ryan Nicholas <u>Buensuceso</u>

the second state of the second sec

Reprintation all house in the main and an analysis and the second as a subscript of the second s

Generation of long-lived dendritic cells for a dendritic cell-based therapeutic HIV vaccine

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Date

Chair of the Thesis Examination Board

ii

Abstract

Despite advances in therapy, acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) continues to be a global problem. New therapeutic avenues are being explored, including dendritic cell (DC)-based immunotherapy. While DCs can efficiently promote an immune response, their limited lifespan within the lymph node represents an obstacle to efficient immunotherapy.

We examined different gene transfer methods, observing lentiviral transduction to be the most effective. Transduction using generated lentiviral transfer vectors encoding M11L and EGFP were used to determine effects on cellular viability. We did not observe significant differences in viability following apoptosis induction in transduced L cells. In primary DC cultures, transduction with and without M11L did not influence DC maturation or longevity in either the short or long term, though transduction was more efficient in the immature DC population. These results demonstrate that transduction is effective for gene transfer into DCs. However, techniques for dual gene expression must be further refined.

Keywords

HIV, dendritic cell, immunotherapy, vaccines, transfection, transduction, lentivirus vector, lifespan, longevity, myxoma virus, M11L

้ เรียนของเป็นสี่สุดสินสุดสิน

ntiki sayat présere atau satir, diserènanyk find 15. Apadéré Bey Ardina. Arati sati pélénere

Figure providence of the second state of the second state of the second development of the second state.
Figure states are second as the second state of the sec

For my family, friends, and all those who have supported me over the years

(1) A compared and the docation of the entropy there is a first the second state of the second se

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank first and foremost, my supervisor Dr. Greg Dekaban for all of his guidance, mentorship, and support. Also, many thanks to my advisory committee members Dr. Joe Mymryk and Dr. Stephen Barr for their input and guidance.

My appreciation goes out to all members of the Dekaban laboratory, past and present who had a hand in making this work possible. Also, to those who I had the tremendous pleasure of working with, Sonali de Chickera, Christy Willert, Bryan Au, Kemi Adeyanju, John Barrett, Monty McKillop, Xi Zhang, Lauren DiMenna, Kathy Mao, Sakina Thawer, Jessica Cheung, and Elena losef, who have been nothing short of a second family to me. Special thanks go to Sonali, who in addition to being an incredible coworker, has been one of the best friends I could have ever asked for.

Many thanks also go to my family who supported my decision to come to UWO and was always there to help me in any way possible, and my friends, old and new, in Montreal and London who have been an incredible support network. Notably, to my dear friends Belinda Go, Julie Huang, Elaine Ngan, and Jennifer Lu, who have always been there to help through tough times and share in the wonderful times.

Lastly, to my friend and fellow John Abbott College Honsci, Jake Dougherty-St. Arnaud: We all miss you and wish you were with us. Your memory will be in our hearts every step of the way.

Table of Contents
Contents a space on the second state of the second state of the second state of the second state of the second
Prefaceii
Certificate of Examinationii
Abstract and Keywords iii
Dedicationiv
Acknowledgementsv
Table of Contents
List of Figures
List of Appendices
List of Abbreviationsxi
Overview1
Introduction1
Human Immunodeficiency Virus1
Control of HIV Replication5
HIV Therapy7
Vaccine Strategies10
Dendritic Cell Immunobiology13
Dendritic Cell-based Therapeutics15
Manipulation of Dendritic Cell Lifespan20

Dendritic Cell Gene Transfer	23
Dual Gene Expression	26
Project Rationale	
Hypothesis and Objectives	29
Materials and Methods	31
Cell Culture	31
Transfection	31
Nucleofection	32
Generation of Lentiviral Transfer Vectors	32
Protein Extraction and Immunoblotting	34
Production of Lentiviral Vectors	35
Cell Transduction	36
Induction of Apoptosis	37
Mouse Bone Marrow DC Isolation and Culture	37
Cell Staining and Flow Cytometry	38
Statistics	38
Results	40
Non-viral Transfection Methods Are Not Effective in DCs	40
Generation of Lentivirus Transfer Vector	48
Effect of M11L On Staurosporine-induced Apoptosis	54

Short Term Effects of M11L Transduction62
Long Term Culture of Bone Marrow-derived DCs
DC Maturation Cocktail Does Not Appear to Increase Mature Transductants.73
Discussion
Summary94
References
Appendix
Curriculum Vitae114
- Centra For Texter of periods one texter of the State of
Bigni - 2 - Cito baity aprima a constantanti Cestito a più depenne constanta progen
Papare 18 do está la desta constructiva de constructiva de sector de la constructiva de sector de la constructiv
e la prese de la presenta de la contra de la presenta de la presenta de la presenta de la contra de la present La presenta de la pres
a search de chaite thagas an d'anna ann ann an ann an ann ann ann ann
(1) Physical and the Article Constraints (201) while and the Article Constraints (1) and (1) and (2) an
in The part of the state of the contract on the state of the
Marina a several a second constrained institution and proving how prevention
viii

List of Figures

Figure 1 – Cationic polymer mediated transfection is not effective in DC2.4 cells
Figure 2 – Liposome mediated transfection is not effective in DC2.4 cells45
Figure 3 – Nucleofection is not effective in DC2.4 cells
Figure 4 – Generation of pCCL-EGFP lentiviral transfer vector
Figure 5 – Generation of pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L lentiviral transfer vector53
Figure 6 – Sequence analysis of pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L56
Figure 7 – Protein expression in transduced HEK 293T cells
Figure 8 – Viability profiles of transduced L cells following staurosporine induced
apoptosis61
Figure 9 – Lentiviral transduction process does not affect DC maturation or
viability65
Figure 10 – The process of virus transduction does not a detectable effect on DC
maturation in the long term
Figure 11 – The level of GFP ⁺ mature DCs increases over time
Figure 12 – Effect of M11L expression on DC viability in vitro
Figure 13 – Administration of a maturation cocktail does not greatly increase the
level of mature GFP ⁺ BMDCs78

List of Appendices

n an		and a start of the second s	
e Martine A		n en de grange finde de literation de provinsi de presentation de presentation de presentation de presentation La contraction de la contraction de la contraction de presentation de presentation de presentation de presentati	
an a			
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
·			
		and Galanda Balilika ya Kasa Manaziri	
en o a mo an			
an an tha			
		a ser a A ser a s	
lan a shi ta ƙ		n an 1970 an Alexandra an Alexandra Alexandra ang an 1970 an ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang	
		n de la condition de la constanta de la constan La constanta de la constanta de	
4 15 NSB		and a second	
the set	· •	n han sena da kan perina penanda da kan penandakan kan penanda sena da kan penanda da kan penanda penanda pena Penanda penanda penanda Penanda penanda	
		and the second secon	
- 1 21 E + 3 - 3 1 E	•	n de la constante de la constan La constante de la constante de La constante de la constante de	
n ta sharin 1 di na di			
		and the second	
 ana sa		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
:			
- 1 			
and and a second se			

List of Abbreviations and the column

7-AAD	7-aminoactinomycin D activitie a diagraedia ister ta fistar existence a cest amissi
AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
ANOVA	analysis of variance
APC	antigen presenting cell
BMDC	bone marrow-derived dendritic cell
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CCR7	'C-C' chemokine receptor 7
CD4	Thelper cell surface marker
CD8	CTL expressed coreceptor for T cell receptor
CD11c	αX leukocyte integrin α subunit
CD28	T cell co-stimulatory receptor
CD80	B7.1; costimulatory CD28 ligand
CD86	B7.2; costimulatory CD28 ligand
CMV	el chea fabouraci i nelesco bistan cytomegalovirus
CpG	TLR ligand; 'C-phosphate-G' linear sequence of bases
CTL	cytotoxic T lymphocyte
CXCR4	'C-X-C' chemokine receptor 4

DC	dendritic cell
DC-SIGN	dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3- Grabbing non-integrin
DEAE	diethylaminoethyl
DEC205	lymphocyte antigen 75
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
EGFP	enhanced green fluorescence protein
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FSC	forward scatter
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
State GM-CSF	granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor
HAART	highly active antiretroviral treatment
HBSS	Hanks' buffered saline solution
er, all HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
HTLV	Human T cell leukemia virus
IFN	interferon

xii

	interleukin an Afrika and Lauthan an Arra antara
IRES	internal ribosome entry site
LAV	lymphadenopathy virus
LTNP	long-term non-progressor
LTR	long terminal repeat
МНС	major histocompatibility complex
MOI	multiplicity of infection
nNRTI	non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor
NRTI	nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor
PAMP	pathogen associated molecular pattern
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PE	phycoerythrin
PerCP	peridinin chlorophyll protein complex
PGE2	prostaglandin E2
PGK	phosphoglycerate kinase
Poly I:C	polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid

xiii

RPMI 1640 Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640 medium

SIV Substantiation of simian immunodeficiency virus of comparison and distance

SSC side scatter

Bude v BM - - Hellow Sterner State (Breed Balade - - Storing Balade) - - Barrie (Bread State)

STS staurosporine and Orgina contraction of participation of a participation of the participa

TLR Standard Medication in toll-like receptor adaption of data Monocold Action of the State State of the State

TNF tumor necrosis factor

deno en l'Orlen

VSV vesicular stomatitis virus

Japane, controls & departure - se of Ready, 1985 with a work house work of the second statement of the second stateme

landikanana Girong Shar

to service of the first formation of a cost (2016) and the cost of the cost of the service (2019) a first and the first of the cost of the cost of the test and the cost of the cost of the cost of the cost of the a first of the cost of the cost of the cost of the transmission of the first of the cost of the cost of the cost

Overview receiving and physical construction. The physical surged balls of the pain

Since the discovery of acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) in the 1980s, it has evolved from a disease associated primarily with the homosexual population to a global pandemic. According to the 2010 World Health Organization AIDS epidemic report, approximately 33.3 million people worldwide are living with Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV). In 2009, 1.8 million deaths were attributed to AIDS while 2.6 million new cases were described (1).

The increase in people living with HIV can be in part attributed to improvements in therapy; as of 2008, 42% of infected individuals had access to therapy. This therapy does not however clear any HIV reservoirs, and interruptions in therapy are followed by rapid increases in viremia. Furthermore, various social, economical, and medical reasons result in problems in patient compliance to therapy. As such, development of an alternative means of HIV therapy is required in order to limit our reliance on antiretroviral therapy. Unfortunately, development of HIV vaccines using traditional approaches has been ineffective to date. As a result, alternative methods are being assessed.

Introduction

Human Immunodeficiency Virus

HIV, the causative agent of AIDS, was first isolated in 1981 (2). Initially, it was characterized by two independent groups as a retroviral infection caused by a virus similar to human T cell leukemia virus (HTLV)-1, and causing

1

lymphadenopathy and physical weakness. The virus was termed HTLV-III by the group of Robert Gallo (3), and lymphadenopathy-associated virus (LAV) by the group of Luc Montagnier (4). Further studies eventually revealed that the two viruses were indeed the same, and in 1986, they were named HIV. The virus was classified into the genus *Lentivirus*, part of the Retroviridae family.

The virus possesses a number of both structural and non-structural genes that allow it to subvert an anti-HIV immune response and to persist in the body. These genes are all encoded on the genomic positive-sense RNA, which exists as a homodimer within a mature virion. The three main regions of the HIV genome are termed gag, pol, and env (5). The gag region encodes proteins that are responsible for providing the physical infrastructure of the virus. This infrastructure includes capsid and nucleocapsid proteins that comprise a conical shell that encases the genomic RNA homodimer (6). The pol gene encodes the viral enzymes reverse transcriptase, integrase, and the protease that cleaves newly synthesized polyproteins. The env region encodes gp160, the precursor to the envelope proteins gp120 and gp41. Also within the HIV genome are coding regions for different non-structural proteins. Regulatory proteins such as tat and rev are responsible for a number of steps in the viral life cycle, ranging from increasing the level of transcription of HIV RNA to manipulation of viral nucleic acid export (7, 8). Lastly, other accessory proteins such as vpr, vif, nef, and vpu can function to subvert normal host immune function and cause the release of newly synthesized viral particles (9). Expected interversinget and extra regi-

Monoral Stars of Joshe 1, 2 , 1996, 1995, is everybed to general and

2

Infection by HIV begins by transmission of the virus through several identified routes. The most common of which is through sexual contact where secretions from an infected individual come into contact with mucosal membranes of uninfected persons (10). However, transmission through blood and blood products is also common, such as through practices of needle sharing among intravenous drug users or bad hygienic practice including the reuse of needles (11). Infected mothers can also transfer the virus vertically to the fetus or during pregnancy (12, 13). Following transmission, the virus attaches to the target cell via an interaction between gp120 and host cell CD4, using CCR5 and CXCR4 chemokine receptors as a coreceptor (14). Further studies have shown, however, that gp120 is also capable of using other cell surface molecules as a receptor, including heparan sulfate, galactosyl ceramide, DEC205, and DC-SIGN. The latter two molecules are expressed on dendritic cells (DCs) (15-18).

Following binding of the virus, it then enters the cells. The predominant belief is that this occurs by fusion of the cellular lipid membrane and the lipid envelope of the virus, releasing the nucleocapsid into the target cell (19). However, more recent studies have described an alternate mechanism where bound virus is endocytosed by the cell in a clathrin dependent manner (20). Following entry, the capsid is disassembled and reverse transcriptase mediates reverse transcription of the genomic RNA into single stranded cDNA, then into double stranded linear form, and lastly into a double stranded linear form, which is imported into the nucleus and is integrated into the target cell by the viral integrase. After integration, the proviral DNA is transcribed to genomic and subgenomic mRNA, spliced, and translated by the standard cellular machinery, leading to production of Tat and Rev. The production of Tat leads to the upregulation of proviral transcription, while Rev allows for the export of unspliced mRNA. The unspliced mRNA is used to generate Gag, which encases the fulllength RNA genome, and Env polyprotein. The HIV protease processes the Env polyprotein to gp41 and gp120 subunits which are transported to the plasma membrane. Gag and Gag-Pol polyproteins associate with the HIV genomic RNA at the plasma membrane in areas enriched for the HIV Env protein as the virus begins to bud off from infected cells, ultimately released by Vpu. Maturation of the virion is completed as the viral protease processes the polyproteins into their functional forms.

Following infection, the individual enters the acute stage of infection. This is characterized by a phase of robust virus replication, accompanied with a marked drop in CD4⁺ T cells (21). In the acute phase, CD8⁺ T cells are weakly mobilized, which provide small amounts of control of infection (22). After several weeks, infected individuals enter the latent phase of infection. This is characterized by a steady increase in viral load and a decrease in CD4⁺ T cell count. When CD4⁺ T cell levels drop to below 200 cells/µL from the normal range of 800-1050 cells/µL he infected individual is said to progress to AIDS (23, 24). Here, CD4⁺ mediated immunity is no longer effective, resulting in a large increase in susceptibility to normally innocuous infections.

Methods to counteract infection or disease progression fall into two categories, prophylactic or therapeutic. Whereas the ultimate goal in prophylaxis

4

is the prevention of infection, therapeutics serve to control an existing infection. To date, in the context of HIV infection, the options available in either case are limited. Currently, a number of problems inherent to HIV have prevented the formulation of an effective prophylactic treatment. The greatest hurdle to a prophylactic vaccine has been the incredible diversity of HIV (25). A number of factors contribute to the high degree of heterogeneity of HIV. Firstly, the reverse transcriptase enzyme that generates the cDNA for integration lacks proofreading ability, resulting in an error rate of 30 mutations per 1×10^6 base pairs (26, 27). This is further enhanced by a high rate of viral turnover and by a high virus burden within an individual (28, 29). Secondly, HIV is prone to antigenic shift; coinfection with viruses belonging to different phylogenetic lines can recombine during the strand transfer involved in reverse transcription, leading to alterations in fitness and virulence (30, 31). As a result of the high variability, envelope glycoproteins that would be most accessible to neutralizing antibodies display an astonishing 20% variability in amino acid sequence within a given clade (32). When comparing isolates across clades, this number increases to greater than 35% (32). Consequently, prophylactic treatments would have to be capable of inducing an immune response against all of the different HIV subtypes across the many phylogenetic branches. Because of the difficulties in doing so, more focus has been placed on the treatment of existing infection.

Control of HIV Replication

Generally, the immune response to virus infection utilizes both a humoral and cell mediated response. The humoral response generates antibodies which

standing and the same approximation of the state of the same of th

can bind to free virus particles and prevent further infection (33). The cellular response utilizes cytotoxic cells, CD8⁺ T cells or natural killer cells, to destroy infected cells expressing viral antigens (34, 35). While the goal of a prophylactic vaccine would serve to increase the major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-II/CD4⁺ humoral axis of the response, therapeutic vaccines should increase the MHC-1/CD8⁺ cellular axis.

Activation of a cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) response is dependent on an interaction between the CD8⁺ T cells and a peptide-MHC-I. Upon infection, viral peptides synthesized by infected cells can be loaded onto MHC-I during transit to the plasma membrane. The peptide-MHC complex can then be presented to CD8⁺ T cells leading to their activation and effector function. DCs, the most potent antigen presenting cell (APC) are capable of eliciting strong cellular responses. However, their interactions with CD4⁺ T cells represent a double-edged sword, in that they can also facilitate transmission of the virus (36).

The CD8⁺ T cell response appears to be very important in the control of lentiviral replication and disease progression. During acute infection, the CTL response follows the increase in plasma viral load (37, 38). The peak of the CTL response is concordant with a drop in virus load. A study using a primate simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) infection model showed that depletion of CTLs during the acute phase of infection leads to failure of early HIV control (39). Transient depletion of CD8⁺ T cells during the chronic phase of infection resulted in increased viremia, which was eventually suppressed with reappearance of CD8⁺ T cells (40). Further evidence of the importance of CD8⁺ T cells is

observed in long term nonprogressors (LTNPs). These individuals are infected with HIV, but maintain a very low viral titer and prolonged time before progression to AIDS. CTL levels in this group are similar to those in other HIV infected individuals; however, the difference lies in the effector capacity of the CTLs. In LTNPs, levels of perforin, a pore forming protein directed by effector CTLs towards target cells, are increased (41).

As a consequence of CD4⁺ T cell depletion, insult to the humoral immune response is observed as well. However, in contrast to a cellular response, a neutralizing antibody response was not observed to play a role in HIV suppression in elite controllers and those on long-term highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART)-treated patients (42). Furthermore, the generated antibody response has been observed to be unable to match the rate of virus escape and to be lacking in breadth (43, 44). This may be a result of effects of HIV on the B cell response, as the diminished responses are associated with abnormal B cell phenotypes (45). Recently, new neutralizing antibody clones have been observed following screening of 1800 infected donors, as well as a class of individuals termed 'elite neutralizers' (46, 47). These findings demonstrate that an effective neutralizing response is possible and that it may be harnessed for future therapy.

HIV Therapy

Major advances to date in the field of HIV therapy have been the development of pharmacological treatments. The first antiretroviral drugs

), had na her station her else Miller trapis de behaltet with de statisties,

en her bland angeban den and hangeven het of hit verber, an blied of

targeted the reverse transcriptase enzyme. These were nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NRTIs) that competed with standard nucleotides during elongation of DNA strands (48). These nucleoside analogs lacked a 3'-OH group, preventing elongation of the cDNA strand generated during reverse transcription. Later generations of reverse transcriptase inhibitors were composed of the second nucleotide analogs and non-nucleoside inhibitors (nNRTIs). While nucleotide analog inhibitors function in the same manner as nucleoside inhibitors, the nonnucleoside inhibitors function by binding directly to the enzyme to inhibit catalytic activity (49). Protease inhibitors were the next class of antiretrovirals made. These drugs target the viral protease to prevent the processing of nascent polyproteins(50). This targeting prevents the functional proteins from being incorporated into assembled virions. Entry inhibitors, specifically fusion inhibitors, are one of the newest classes of antiretrovirals, with the first one being passed by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2003 (51). These drugs function by targeting components of the infection synapse between virus and target cell. The newest class of antiretroviral drug is the integrase inhibitor, first licensed by the FDA in 2007 (52). These drugs prevent the integration of the reverse transcribed cDNA into the host genome.

These drugs, in particular NRTIs, nNRTIs, and protease inhibitors are used in HAART, the current standard of HIV therapy. Treatment with single drugs is not used, as the high mutation rate and heterogeneity of HIV within an infected individual ultimately gives rise to a drug resistant mutant. However, by using combination therapy, the probability of obtaining a progeny virion with mutations conveying resistance to all drugs in the cocktail is considerably lower. Administration of an effective HAART regimen results in an increase in CD4⁺ T cells and restoration of pathogen-specific immune responses. Ultimately, full recovery cannot be achieved, due in part to incomplete control of HIV replication as well as the ability of the virus to remain in various cellular reservoirs in the body (36).

It has been demonstrated that although HAART dramatically decreases the HIV plasma viral load, interruption of therapy results in a rapid return of highlevel viremia (53). Reservoirs of latent virus are believed to be generated in CD4⁺ T cells, monocytes/macrophages, DCs, and some subsets of CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells early in the disease course (54-57). It is believed that the main compartment for latency is the population of resting memory CD4⁺ T cells. Because these cells perform only the basic processes required to survive, it is likely that the virus will simply persist in the proviral form, without high levels of virus production.

Strict adherence to HAART is required to prevent viral rebound and emergence of drug resistant mutants due to reservoirs of latent virus. The International AIDS Society has recommended at least 95% adherence for optimal results in antiretroviral therapy, as modest or occasional nonadherence significantly decreases the benefits of HAART (58). However, compliance with an optimal regimen is difficult. Studies have shown common reasons for nonadherence were sleeping through dose times, difficulties in following special instructions, and changes in one's daily habits. Social issues surrounding nonadherence include the treatment being a reminder of one's HIV positivity, others knowing of one's HIV status, and a lack of complete understanding of their own treatment (59-61). These issues are in addition to complications caused by the side effects associated with HAART and the financial burden of treatment. Although effective, the difficulties of a HAART regimen underline the need for a simpler therapeutic approach.

. Stander and the second seco

Vaccine Strategies

One of the major goals in the field of HIV therapy is the development of an effective vaccine. Previous attempts at doing so have made use of traditional approaches of vaccine design: live attenuated virus, whole killed virus, and protein subunit vaccines. Live attenuated virus vaccines make use of virus particles that have diminished pathogenicity and/or a reduced ability to replicate. Whole killed viruses, while also composed of intact viral particles, are non-infectious. Thus, killed viruses would be unable to infect host cells. Protein subunit vaccines are composed entirely of one or more subunits of an intact virus particle. The subunits used are often those that are normally easily accessible to neutralizing antibodies. There are also a number of novel vaccine strategies that are being assessed. These include plasmid DNA vaccines, viral vector based vaccines, and dendritic cell based immunotherapy. Regardless of the vaccine strategy used, effective CD8⁺ T cell activation is required.

Preliminary research employing live attenuated virus vaccines in an SIV/macague model showed that these vaccines do confer a small level of

protection (62). An advantage of this type of vaccine is that the attenuated virus is capable of infecting host cells and generating viral proteins that can be presented within the context of MHC-I, leading to the activation of a CD8⁺ T cell response. However, long term observation demonstrated that vaccinated macaques still exhibited immune dysfunction, T cell depletion, and in some cases, progression to AIDS. Ultimately, the immunocompromised state of the host combined with the high level of replication and selective pressure can result in reversion to virulent progeny (63, 64). Consequently, this vaccine modality is not suitable for prophylactic or therapeutic purposes.

Inactivated virus vaccines have proven to be useful in preventing infection in the case of polio and influenza, but have not been effective thus far with HIV (65-67). These vaccines are produced by heat or chemical inactivation of infectious virus. One of the major difficulties in the use of this vaccine method in the context of HIV is the conservation of immunogenicity, particularly when discussing the structure of the envelope proteins (68). Nevertheless, attempts to study the feasibility of killed virus vaccines have been assessed in SIV models. Separate studies have shown that depending on the method of inactivation, these vaccines can result in a modest increase in neutralizing antibody titer, and decrease viremia if administered post-challenge (69, 70). In humans, this method was unable to generate a broad antibody response (66). Furthermore, there was an inability to promote a $CD8^+T$ cell mediated response due to a lack of antigenic epitope presentation through the MHC-I pathway.

nyski se byzy, mediac iz ie na neu u stadioace na poljenys

11

Subunit vaccines are also often used for viruses such as hepatitis B (71). These vaccines consist of formulations of highly purified viral proteins, commonly the structural glycoproteins present within the HIV envelope. Initial trials of subunit vaccines composed of recombinant HIV gp120 have shown an increase in neutralizing antibody titer towards a homologous vaccine strain, but not against heterologous virus (72, 73). Further studies using a trimeric HIV gp140 (gp120 elongated with the gp41 ectodomain) vaccine in rabbits and macaques have shown only low levels of neutralizing antibody towards heterologous virus (74). The difficulty in all of these methods is an overall inability to account for the high level of variability in the HIV envelope glycoproteins (75, 76). To address this problem the use of cocktails of HIV envelope glycoproteins from prevalent HIV strains has been explored (77). While this method did elicit neutralizing antibody responses, further studies have to be undertaken to better understand the breadth of these responses.

DNA vaccines are composed of plasmid vectors engineered to encode immunogenic proteins. The immunogenic properties of DNA vaccines were first observed when mice vaccinated with plasmids encoding the human growth hormone gene, rather than showing increased human growth hormone production, were observed to produce antibodes targeting the hormone itself (78). However, further studies later showed that in order to obtain detectable immune responses in primates, large amounts of plasmid DNA were required. As such, research in this field is also focusing on the development of adjuvants and novel delivery methods to increase efficiency and potency. Viral vectors have also been examined for HIV therapy for their ability to act as a vehicle of gene delivery (79-81). Vaccines utilizing viral vectors consist of viruses modified to be safe, exhibit zero to low toxicity, and encode the requisite genes, as a vehicle to deliver the genetic information. As these viruses are able to infect target cells and express the foreign proteins, the belief was that they would be able to elicit a T cell response. One of the more publicized attempts was the Merck STEP trial (82). This trial attempted to utilize recombinant adenovirus vectors to deliver the *gag*, *pol*, and *nef* genes and induce anti-HIV T cell immunity. Infection of human immune cells with the viral vectors was intended to result in expression of the viral antigens and a subsequent immune response. However, during phase III clinical trials, no protection or significant reductions in the plasma viral load post-infection was observed; rather, the vaccinated group was seen to have an increased number of new infections relative to the control group (83).

Dendritic Cell Immunobiology completes DEED inspection and the determinant

DCs are the immune system's most potent and versatile APC. They are able to quickly sense inflammatory stimuli, capture antigen, transport it to secondary lymphoid organs, and mobilize antigen specific T cells (84-86). Because of their important role in immune surveillance, they localize to peripheral tissues including the skin, respiratory tract, and genito-urinary mucosa where they exist predominantly as immature cells. Here, they express low levels of surface molecules involved in the co-stimulation and activation of naïve T cells such as CD80 and CD86. However, they have a high capacity for sampling their extracellular environment for antigens. Upon exposure to pro-inflammatory molecules such as those involved in tissue damage or pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), the DCs are activated and undergo a change in function and phenotype (87, 88). In this state, endocytic activity decreases, while co-stimulatory molecules increase. Furthermore, the migratory capacity of the DCs increases, permitting them to traffic to secondary lymphoid organs. This is mediated by an increase in cell surface chemokine receptors, notably CCR7 (89). Within the secondary lymphoid organs, the activated DCs are capable of driving Th1 differentiation through production of interleukin (IL)-12 (90-93). This permits the activated DCs to initiate an immune response along both cellular and humoral axes. Due to the level of influence that DCs have on the immune response, they have attracted attention as a therapeutic target for the treatment of disease.

In addition to the aforementioned interactions of DCs with CD8⁺ T cells, DCs are also capable with interacting with CD4⁺ helper T cells through an interaction with MHC-II. This leads to either cellular immunity mediated by Th1 cells, or a B cell response via the Th2 subset. The cytokine environment influences the nature of the T helper response, as Th1 responses are promoted by interferon (IFN)-γ and IL-12, whereas an IL-4 promotes a Th2 response (93, 94). Activation of Th1 cells by DCs leads to increased macrophage activity and proliferation of CD8⁺ T cells (95). Conversely, activated Th2 generate a humoral response by interacting with antigen bound MHC-II on the surface of B cells present in secondary lymphoid organs. The Th2 cells then deliver activating signals to the B cells resulting in their activation and proliferation (96).

Ultimately, T cell activation by DCs is dependent on their activation state. Previous research has demonstrated that DCs lacking the means to respond directly to PAMPs retain the ability to be partially activated (termed "matured") via other hematopoietic cells (97). In this scenario, other hematopoietic cells encounter pathogens and following interactions between PAMPs and the appropriate receptors, release pro-inflammatory cytokines that promote DC maturation. The matured DCs differ from activated DCs in the capacity to generate effector T cells. Both mature and activated DCs are capable of providing a costimulatory signal to resting T cells due to upregulation of CD80 and CD86, which interact with CD28 on T cells. Notably, matured DCs fail to produce IL-12, and are hence unable to drive T cell differentiation (90, 91). Furthermore, the mature DCs have been shown to be unable to prime effective CD8⁺ T cells, resulting in a defective CTL response (98-101).

Dendritic Cell-based Therapeutics

The use of DCs in gene therapy often involves the introduction of a gene or protein product encoding a given immunogen (102). Initial attempts at antigen loading have used purified peptides, viral vectors for transduction, or antigen expressing cell extracts. Following loading, the antigen can be presented on surface MHC molecules. Proteins synthesized within the cell are loaded onto MHC-I, whereas exogeneous proteins are loaded onto MHC-II. Furthermore, DCs are also capable of cross-presentation, where they are able to capture extracellular antigens, process them, and load them onto MHC-I for presentation to $CD8^+$ T cells. Antigen presenting DCs can traffic to regional lymph nodes, and present the loaded antigen to T cells to initiate a response (103-105). Depending on the context of antigen presentation, DCs can activate either a Th2 response leading to a humoral $CD4^+$ T cell response, or a Th1 response leading to a $CD8^+$ T cellular response.

As it is the manner in which antigen is presented by DCs that decides on either a cellular or humoral immune response, different strategies of DC preparation can be employed to generate either response. As cellular immune responses generally depend on the production of endogeneous antigen and its subsequent loading onto MHC-I, and humoral responses use exogeneous derived antigen loaded onto MHC-II, different antigen loading strategies can be used to achieve the desired response. In the former, genes encoding the antigen of interest can be transferred into DCs such that they will be able to produce the resulting protein on their own (106). Following generation of the protein, it can be processed and loaded within the cell onto surface bound MHC-I, and stimulate CTLs. Loading of MHC-II can be achieved by pulsing DCs with antigenic peptides. It has been shown that DCs pulsed ex vivo with cell wall constitutents from Streptococcus pneumoniae and administered into syngenic mice resulted in strong B cell response to capsular polysaccharides and microbial proteins of the bacterium (107). Additionally, different subsets of DCs can be used to prepare

the vaccine. It has been observed that Langerhans cells preferentially prime cellular immunity, whereas dermal DCs prime humoral immunity (108).

Engineering of DCs for use in vaccine preparations must fulfill a number of requirements. A sufficient number of DCs must be prepared for purposes of both manipulation and ensuring that enough DCs will be obtained to traffic to regional lymph nodes. They must express immunogenic peptides within the appropriate MHC context in order to initiate the correct type of immune response. Lastly, they must be activated in order to prime effector cells (109).

One of the major advances in the DC immunotherapy field was the discovery that DCs could be easily generated from precursor CD14⁺ monocytes by culturing in the presence of IL-4 and granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (110, 111). Further refinement of this technique has allowed for the large-scale generation of commercial grade monocyte-derived DCs. It is also possible to generate myeloid DCs using CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells and expand them in a similar manner, using IL-4, GM-CSF, and TNF in the culture medium (112, 113). However, the advantages of either CD14⁺ derived DCs over the other in the context of HIV has yet to be studied. In addition to using either CD14⁺ or CD34⁺ precursors, different subsets of DCs can be generated by modifying the cytokine milieu in culture (114). These different subsets carry with them different immunostimulatory properties; however, the exact subset that would be best for HIV therapy is not clear.

not control the local control the plante of a contribute that

The DC precursors must also be HIV-free if used to generate large populations. As CD14⁺ and CD34⁺ are susceptible to HIV infection, use of infected precursor cells can generate HIV infected DCs that would propagate the virus and exacerbate disease an HIV-positive individual. Furthermore, research has shown that interaction between infected DCs and infected CD4⁺ T cells results in the stimulation of HIV replication and virion synthesis (115, 116). Because of the hazards of using infected DCs, it is important to be able to generate healthy, uninfected cells. In order to do so, uninfected precursors must be utilized. These can be cells taken from an infected individual and rigorously screened, or from an MHC-compatible, uninfected donor.

The DCs must be activated in order to achieve optimal T cell activation. Otherwise, immature DCs are unable to initiate the appropriate immune response and may be tolerogenic (117). Thus, in order to obtain potent, stimulatory DCs, they are often treated with combinations of toll-like receptor (TLR) ligands and inflammatory cytokines. A number of studies have made use of poly I:C (TLR 3 agonist), CpG (TLR 9 agonist), tumor necrosis factor (TNF) α , interferon (IFN) γ , IL-6, IL-1 β , and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) (118). The combination of cytokines and TLR ligands can mimic interactions between DCs and pathogens, to promote increases in costimulatory molecules and chemokine receptors.

Different combinations of TLR ligands and cytokines have been assessed for clinical use. It has been recently reported that the use of purified TLR ligands is not without drawbacks. Purified poly I:C, a TLR3 ligand, when used in a maturation cocktail has been shown to induce an antiviral state within the DC (119, 120). Activation of these innate immune mechanisms may cause RNA degradation or inhibition of protein synthesis, limiting expression of introduced transgenes. To circumvent this, the use of clinical grade sources of TLR ligands has been studied, namely cocktails present in existing vaccine formulations such as the typhoid fever vaccine, a seasonal influenza vaccine, and the bacillus Calmette-Guerin vaccine. (118). The findings here show that the "vaccine matured" DCs are capable of inducing Th1 polarization, but with limited CCR7 expression. The limitation in migratory capacity was restored by supplementing with PGE2, enhancing CCR7 expression to increase responsiveness to lymph node-associated chemokines (121).

A number of studies have examined the potential to use DCs as HIV vaccines. Initial trials made use of allogeneic DCs from HIV negative individuals and autologous DCs. The DCs were loaded with either envelope gp160 or synthetic peptides corresponding to HIV-gag or pol. These DCs were injected into 6 human leukocyte antigen (HLA) identical HIV infected individuals (122). One of the recipients of allogeneic DCs demonstrated increased envelopespecific CTL and lymphocyte-proliferative responses accompanied with IFN-γ and IL-2 production. Another recipient of allogeneic DCs showed increased envelope-specific lymphocyte-proliferative response. A recipient of autologous DCs eventually showed an increase in peptide-specific lymphocyte-proliferative responses. However, in all cases, no effect on viral load was observed. Another trial used monocyte-derived DCs cultured in the presence of GM-CSF and IL-4 (123). Eighteen HIV infected individuals off HAART treatment for at least 6 months were given DCs loaded with inactivated HIV and cytokine matured. At 112 days post administration, a decrease in plasma HIV RNA was measured with 8 of the 18 recipients demonstrating a reduction of viral load of over 90%. This correlated with increased HIV-specific CD4⁺ T cells. These results demonstrated the efficacy of a DC-based HIV vaccine to control HIV infection.

e diffect data set of the start we

t feloveleg plana ben ago. An ett tombo rectiona enderr

Manipulation of Dendritic Cell Lifespan

One of the key issues surrounding the use of DCs in immunotherapy is their lifespan and persistence within the lymph node (124). Furthermore, uptake of dead DCs by immature DCs may result in tolerance (125). Because the lymph node is the site of antigen presentation, it has been postulated that a limited lifespan of DCs places limits on the duration of a T-cell mediated immune response. Characterization of BrdU-labeled DCs in the absence of antigen or microbial stimuli demonstrated that they can persist anywhere between 2 and 9 days within lymphoid organs. Following antigenic and microbial stimuli however, the turnover rate increased (126). Other studies using fluorescently-labeled allogeneic murine DCs revealed that injected DCs are short lived upon migration to the lymph node persisting for upwards of 7 days, with peak levels achieved at day 2 (127). Multiple attempts have been made at circumventing shortcomings in DC lifespan. These include transfection with a number of cellular anti-apoptotic factors such as Bcl-2 and Bcl-x_L, or siRNA-mediated knockdown of the proapoptotic factors Bak/Bax. In the latter case, knockdown was shown to increase immune responses (128-131).

ees is a more than the interview of the second s

Manipulation of cellular apoptotic regulators to boost DC longevity is in itself a double-edged sword. Although they have been shown to successfully increase longevity, they may also be associated with oncogenicity, making applications involving these difficult to translate to clinical settings (132, 133). Furthermore, depending on the method of transgene introduction, effects of manipulated apoptotic factors may synergize with other proto-oncogenes whose expression may be altered following gene transfer. An alternative method makes use of apoptotic regulators that are viral in nature. The benefits of this method exist on two levels. First, it allows for the selection of regulators are viral and therefore foreign to the body, it is possible for the immune system to eventually eliminate cells expressing the foreign protein. This permits a temporary increase in DC longevity without resulting in overwhelming DC activity or an excessively prolonged lifespan that could contribute to cancer.

Myxoma virus encodes M11L, an anti-apoptotic protein encoded by a virus not known to be pathogenic to humans. It has shown to be important to myxoma virus pathogenicity as an M11L deletion mutant virus was markedly less pathogenic than wild type virus, being unable to cause lethal myxomatosis (134). Furthermore, the knockout virus resulted in unusual lesions with vigorous inflammatory activity, suggesting that M11L performed a function that normally compromises an effective cellular response. Research later showed that M11L was localized to the mitochondria (135). Mitochondria are central in the apoptotic pathway, where it functions in both the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways (136).
During apoptosis, the mitochondria swell, as well as changes in membrane potential. Pores formed in the mitochondrial membrane result in the release of cytochrome c and subsequent activation of caspase 9. The pores are formed by apoptotic factors Bak and Bax, while local anti-apoptotic factors, the Bcl-2 family of proteins, prevents their activation (137, 138). M11L was revealed to be a structural homolog of Bcl-2, functioning by preventing the conformational activation of Bak and Bax (139, 140) and the subsequent release of cytochrome c (141). Pharmacological induction of apoptosis in immortalized Rat2 fibroblasts infected with an M11L encoding retrovirus resulted in a 2-fold decrease in apoptotic cells over a 5 hour treatment, demonstrating its anti-apoptotic effects (135).

In the context of DC-based HIV therapy, anti-apoptotic regulators such as M11L may play a pivotal role. It has been demonstrated that the HIV envelope glycoprotein gp160 is capable of inducing apoptosis in CD4⁺ T cells (142). Presumably, DCs engineered to express the same envelope glycoprotein would meet the same fate. However, the ability of M11L to prevent apoptosis may circumvent this problem. Previously, it was shown that inclusion of M11L in a DNA vector-based HIV vaccine was able to prevent gp140 mediated cytotoxicity, as well as increase the magnitude of a CD8⁺ T cell response (143). This study made use of a plasmid DNA vaccine encoding both gp140 and M11L. As the ultimate fate of the vector following administration was unknown, it was postulated that the vector was endocytosed by DCs. These cells would then

. Maalinni foo gebeele zekenin falles ete teristeren veriet obeles effektiv pleede.

synthesize and express the HIV glycoprotein while utilizing the anti-apoptotic effects of M11L to circumvent gp160 mediated cytotoxicity.

Dendritic Cell Gene Transfer

DC immunotherapy requires that the DCs are engineered to present immunogenic peptides on surface MHC. A number of different methods exist for gene transfer, generally classified as either non-viral or viral vector mediated. Commonly used non-viral mediated transfer methods include liposome or cationic-polymer mediated, and more recently, Nucleofection. Viral vectors used for transduction of cells primarily make use of either adenovirus or lentivirus.

sing generation of the souther state and the solution of the so-

Liposome-mediated transfection entails the use of DNA enclosed within positively charged vesicles made of a phospholipid bilayer. Upon interaction with the cell membrane, the two lipid bilayers fuse, releasing the DNA contents into the cytoplasm (144). The DNA is then imported into the nucleus, where it persists as an episome. This method is one of the most common, as it displays a high transfection efficiency in a wide variety of cell lines, and is of low toxicity to the cell. However, it does not display high transfection efficiencies in primary cells. Several groups have attempted to use this method to transfect monocyte-derived DCs, observing transfection efficiencies only as high as 10% (145).

Cationic polymers make use of charge differences between positively charged molecular polymers and negatively charged nucleic acid (146). The polymer and nucleic acid complex are endocytosed by the cell. Proton sponge effects of the cationic polymer buffer the endosomal pH and result in massive proton accumulation and chloride influx (147). The change in osmotic pressure across the endosomal membrane eventually causes rupture of the membrane, releasing the nucleic acid. Plasmid DNA is then imported into the nucleus where it, as in lipofection, persists as an episome. Studies using this method in AG101 cells, an immortalized murine DC line, demonstrated a transfection efficiency below 1% (148).

Nucleofection is a relatively new transfection method. Rather than electroporation, where application of an electric current pulses nucleic acids into the cytoplasm, Nucleofection pulses nucleic acids directly into the nucleus (149). In the case of DNA, it can then be transcribed faster, resulting in quicker gene expression. Furthermore, Nucleofection demonstrates higher transfection efficiency across many cell types (150). A major disadvantage of the system is its proprietary nature and inability to customize parameters of the electric current.

Viral vector-mediated transduction makes use of viruses engineered to encode a gene of interest that infect the cells. In general, plasmids encoding the transgene and viral components are transfected into a mammalian cell line that packages and releases vial particles. The viral particles can then be harvested and used to transduce the cells of interest. However, as the transduction vehicles are still viral in nature, a number of safety measures are put in place to prevent pathogenicity. Often, the viruses used as vectors are either known to not cause severe pathology, or are prepared such that they are unable to do so (151).

here an added there of each grows, styred becaudion exercity statistication

Lentivirus transduction is a popular method of gene transfer. Importantly, because lentiviruses are capable of integration, they are well suited for infecting dividing cells and propagating engineered transgenes (152). This system utilizes three separate plasmids, a transfer plasmid encoding the integration cassette, a packaging plasmid encoding the gag, pol, tat, and rev proteins to provide the capsid structure, transcription and integration machinery (153), and transactivating proteins to drive expression of the integration cassette, and an envelope plasmid that encodes the vesicular stomatitis (VSV)-G protein to pseudotype the recombinant virus. The pseudotyping of the virus permits an expanded tropism, allowing the lentiviral vector to be used for transducing a wide range of cell types (152). As the natural life cycle of lentiviruses involves the integration of the viral genome into the host genome, there are safety concerns surrounding this method. In a trial using lentiviral vectors to treat X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy, transduced CD34⁺ hematopoietic stem cells yielded leukocytes of high polyclonality and no clustering of insertions in oncogenes or growth-related genes (154). Conversely, in a trial using lentiviral vectors to treat β-thalassemia, transduced CD34⁺ stem cells demonstrated clonal dominance by transductants containing an activating insertion in the HMGA2 proto-oncogene (155). Although the abundance of the dominant transduced clone was stable for months after its discovery, this highlights the potential for insertional activation. It is therefore important to recognize the safety concerns of lentiviral transduction. The main concerns have been the generation of replication-competent virus and insertional activation of oncogenes, in part by viral enhancer and promoter

sequences. However, further advancement of this technology has resulted in the development of new safety measures to address some of the concerns (152, 156, 157).

Although HIV is in fact a member of the lentivirus family, a number of safety measures have been put in place in the generation of lentiviral transduction vectors. In each progressive generation of lentiviral vector, researchers have been able to dispense with a number of HIV-1 genes. Currently, only the genes absolutely required for the initial generation of the viral particle and subsequent infection are present (158). Most importantly, the newer generation lentivirus vectors are self-inactivating (157). The transfer plasmid coding for the gene of interest possesses a deletion in the 3' long terminal repeat (LTR). After assembly of the virus particles and subsequent infection into target cells, the deletion is copied into the 5' region during the reverse transcription phase of infection prior to integration. As a result, the integrated provirus lacks a complete 5' LTR capable of driving transcription and therefore is unable to support production of lentiviral transcripts capable of being packaged into progeny virions. Therefore no new infectious virus can be produced.

Dual Gene Expression added it the evel and are for a statement of the second statement of a

For gene therapy, it may be necessary to express multiple transgenes if more than one gene is required to establish the intended effect. Introduction of multiple genes can be achieved either by the use of multiple vectors, or by a single multicistronic vector. However, if multiple monocistronic vectors are used, only a fraction of the target cells will acquire all of them, resulting in a heterogeneous population of unequal gene expression. For this reason, a single multicistronic vector is appealing as target cells taking up the vector will result in a largely homogeneous population of transgene-expressing cells.

Some viruses have evolved ways to initiate translation in the absence of a 5' cap, permitting translation from within an mRNA transcript. This is achieved by the presence of an internal ribosome entry site (IRES) (159). Further research has demonstrated the existence of this system within eukaryotic cells; however, the mechanism of viral IRES function is better understood (160). In general, the IRES functions by creating a scaffold within an mRNA transcript to permit protein translation independent of a 5'cap or a number of cellular translation initiation factors; the exact mechanism, however, is dependent on the origin of the IRES. The level of expression of the second gene under control of the IRES can be variable; in the case of the encephalomyocarditis virus IRES, expression can range anywhere between 6 and 100% that of cap-dependent translation from the cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter, depending on cell type and the gene in question (161).

Another method of dual gene synthesis is to have each gene under the control of its own promoter. However, the use of different promoters can result in protein expression levels that are also dependent on cell-type. Furthermore, promoter interference can occur, where the transcription from one promoter can interfere with that of the other (162, 163). Recently, Amendola *et al.* described the use of a synthetic bidirectional promoter for use in a lentiviral transfer vector

(164). The synthetic promoter consisted of an 'efficient' promoter, either the human ubiquitin C or phosphoglycerate kinase (PGK) promoters, joined in opposite orientation to a minimal core promoter derived from CMV. The upstream elements contained in the 'efficient' promoter, effectively flanked by two core promoters, could then drive transcription in both directions.

Project Rationale components that measurements before the title to be succeeding on these

A previous study from our laboratory described the pHERO DNA plasmid vaccine system (143). The plasmid backbone encodes genes promoting episomal stability allowing it to replicate in dividing cells. In this study, the pHERO plasmid, encoded M11L as well as gp140, a secretable form of HIV gp120 also containing the gp41 ectodomain. Inclusion of M11L in this vector resulted in decreased levels of HIV envelope glycoprotein-mediated apoptosis, as well as an increase HIV-specific CD8⁺ T cell response (143). In conjunction with boosting with a canarypox virus encoding the HIV envelope glycoprotein, gag, and a portion of the protease gene, the effects were further increased. The presence of M11L also stimulated expansion of the central and effector memory CD8⁺ T cell populations. In this study, the DNA vector was administered intramuscularly following cardiotoxin treatment. Cardiotoxin treatment caused local inflammation, promoting infiltration of inflammation responsive cells. It was postulated that the infiltrating cells, namely DCs, were responsible for uptake of the DNA vector, and subsequent synthesis of immunogenic peptides and presentation to Th1 cells in the context of MHC-I. Furthermore, as gp140 is a secretable form of HIV Env, it is possible that muscle cells that took up the

vaccine subsequently produced and secreted gp140. Regional APCs would then be able to take up the secreted protein and cross-present it to T cells in the lymph node while increases in longevity mediated by M11L may increase persistence within the lymph node. This would then lead to increased antigen presentation, and the stronger immune response.

In order to recapitulate this effect specifically in DCs, it is necessary to find an efficient method to transfer the appropriate genes into them. Furthermore, because coordinate expression of multiple genes is desired, the vector of choice must be multicistronic. In the case of a lentivirus vector, the two genes can be under the control of two promoters functioning bidirectionally, or a single promoter and an IRES between the genes. Different methods of both gene transfer and vector organization have to be assessed in order to determine the most effective way of obtaining suitable HIV gene expression and transfection/transduction efficiency.

Hypothesis and Objectives

Based on what has been shown about M11L and the previous findings concerning its use in the pHERO system, I hypothesize that expression of M11L in DCs results in increased DC longevity. To test my hypothesis, I have set a number of research objectives for this project. First, I will identify an effective method of gene transfer into DCs. By assessing a number of different gene transfer methods, I should arrive at one that provides sufficient gene transfer efficiency while also preserving cell viability. Secondly, I have to optimize conditions coordinate dual-gene expression. Lastly, I will assess the effects of lentiviral transduction on DCs in culture from both a short-term and long-term perspective. Refinement of this system can demonstrate a novel method of boosting antigen presentation, especially in cases such as HIV where immunizing peptides may be cytotoxic. This can serve as a foundation for future studies of DC-based therapies.

nne gebonneer in deze en en 1970 (1970), deze felet, gebolke invester die beginde, weld reporter staa Gebouwenige (nammer en 1971) waard in 19

(1) A set the set of the first sector of the set of

Francisco de Castro de Cas

1849) anarah kapadapatén di Karabadén Persentén.

Materials and Methods is weather the appeal of the public and according to the

Cell Culture

HEK293T (human embryonic kidney cells) and L cells (rat fibroblasts) were maintained in reconstituted powdered Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM; Invitrogen) prepared according to manufacturer's instructions and supplemented with 10% FBS, 10mg/mL penicillin-streptomycin, and 200mM Lglutamine (complete DMEM).

na se presentativa a com la construcción de la construcción de la construcción de la construcción de la constru

ndere Benningformer Berlehmer Bulleringere Bungerekende erste

DC2.4 (immature C57BL/6 mouse DCs) cells (165)were maintained in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 culture medium supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum, non-essential amino acids, L-glutamine, sodium pyruvate, penicillin-streptomycin, and β -mercaptoethanol (complete RPMI 1640).

Transfection

Non-viral transfection methods were carried out in DC2.4 cells, an immortalized immature murine DC cell line (165). Transfection with Lipofectamine (Invitrogen) was carried out according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 2×10^6 cells were placed into each well of a 6-well plate in 1.5mL of complete RPMI 1640. Plasmid (4 µg) and 10µL of Lipofectamine were each mixed into 250µL of serum free RPMI 1640. After 5 minutes of incubation, the diluted DNA and Lipofectamine were combined, and incubated for 20 minutes. The liposome-DNA complexes were then added dropwise to each well. After 24 hours, media was removed and replaced with fresh complete RPMI 1640. Analysis was performed 48 hours after transfection.

Transfection with Turbofect (Fermentas) was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions with some minor modifications. Twenty-four hours prior to transfection approximately 2×10^6 DC2.4 cells were plated in 4mL of complete RPMI 1640. At the time of transfection, 4µg of plasmid DNA was diluted in 400uL serum free RPMI 1640. Six microliters of Turbofect was then added to the diluted DNA sample, vortexed, and incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes. The DNA-polymer complexes were then added dropwise to the wells. Analysis was performed 48 hours after transfection.

Nucleofection

Nucleofection was performed according to manufacturer's instructions using the mouse DC Nucleofector kit (Lonza). Approximately 2.5×10^5 cells were resuspended in 100µL nucleofection solution. 2µg of DNA was then added to the cell suspension, and transferred to an Amaxa certified cuvette. The cells were transfected with the program Y-001for immature DCs. Pre-warmed (400µL) complete RPMI 1640 was added after Nucleofection to each cuvette. The transfected cell suspension was added to 400uL of pre-warmed complete RPMI 1640 in a 48 well plate. Analysis was performed 24 hours after Nucleofection.

Generation of Lentiviral Transfer Vectors

IRES containing vectors were based on the pCCL-rHER2/neu-IRES-M11L transfer vector provided by the laboratory of Dr. Jeffrey Medin at the University of Toronto. To generate the pCCL-EGFP vector, the rHER2/neu gene and the IRES-M11L fragment were excised using Asc I and Sal I-HF (New England Biolabs), and purified the vector backbone by agarose gel electrophoresis followed by gel extraction using a QIAquick Gel Extraction Kit (QIAGEN). The enhanced green fluorescence protein (EGFP) gene was amplified from the pEGFP-N1 expression vector (Clonetech) using primers containing a 5' Asc I site and a 3'Sal I site (GAGGGCGCGCCATGGTGAGCAAGG and AGGGTCGACTTACTTGTACAGC). The PCR product was then ligated into the linearized pCCL vector backbone. The assembled plasmid was electroporated into Stbl-4 electrocompetent *E. coli* cells (Invitrogen), and correctness verified by restriction digest, PCR, and DNA sequencing.

To generate the pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L fragment, the IRES-M11L cassette was amplified by PCR from the original pCCL-rHER2/neu-IRES-M11L vector using primers containing a 5' and 3' Sal I site

(TTCTTGTCGACGCCCCTCTCCCCCCCCCC and

TTCTTGTCGACGCGGCCGCCTAGGTCCCTCGGT). The pCCL-EGFP vector was linearized using Sal I and treated with calf intestinal alkaline phosphatase (Invitrogen) to prevent self-ligation. The treated linear plasmid was purified by phenol-chloroform extraction. The amplified IRES-M11L fragment was digested with Sal I and ligated into the dephosphorylated linear pCCL-EGFP vector immediately downstream of the EGFP coding region. The assembled plasmid was electroporated into Stbl-4 *E. coli* electrocompetent cells and verified by restriction digest, orientation specific PCR, and DNA sequencing.

Generation of the pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L vector began with the pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-Luc bidirectional transfer vector supplied by the laboratory of Dr. Jeffrey Medin. The M11L fragment was amplified from a purified IRES-M11L fragment using PCR with primers containing a 5'Pst I site and a 3'Sal

I (AGGCCTGCAGATGATGTCTCGTTTAAAGACGG and GGTAGTCGACC

TAGGTCCCTCGGTACCATTTT) site. The luciferase gene was excised from the starting plasmid using Pst I (Invitrogen) and Sal I-HF (New England Biolabs), and the vector backbone was purified by agarose gel electrophoresis followed by extraction using the PureLink Quick Gel Extraction Kit (Invitrogen). The M11L fragment was ligated into the linearized backbone and transformed into chemically competent DH5 α *E. coli* cells (Invitrogen). The plasmids were verified by restriction digest and DNA sequencing.

Protein Extraction and Immunoblotting

- An anal is the analysis of the first state of the second section with

Transfected or transduced cells were washed twice with ice-cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and lysed on the plate with RIPA buffer supplemented with 1 tablet of 50x complete protease inhibitor. After incubation on ice for 20 minutes, cell lysates were centrifuged at 16000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. Supernatants were transferred to new tubes, and protein concentration was quantified by Bio-Rad protein assay using an Ascent Multiskan (Thermo Scientific). Samples were stored at -80°C.

Soluble proteins (20µg) were subjected to SDS-PAGE using a 16% denaturing gel and transferred to a polyvinylidene difluoride FluoroTrans W membrane (Pall Scientific). Immunoblotting was performed using a 1:100 dilution of rabbit anti-M11L polyclonal antibody (134), and a 1:5000 dilution anti-GAPDH

antibody (Sigma), followed by 1:10000 dilutions of a goat-anti-rabbit or goat-antimouse secondary antibody conjugated to 800nm and 680nm infrared dyes respectively (LiCor Biosciences, donated by the laboratory of Dr. Stephen Barr, University of Western Ontario). Proteins were visualized using a LiCor Odyssey Infrared Imaging System.

Production of Lentiviral Vectors

승규는 것을 많을 것 같아.

The construct pMDG was used to generate the VSV-G viral envelope protein, while the *gag*, *pol*, and *rev* genes were expressed from pCMV. The transfer vectors used were the generated pCCL-EGFP, pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L, pCCL-EGFP-hPGK-minCMV-Luc and pCCL-EGFP-hPGK-minCMV-M11L.

In brief, 15cm^2 tissue culture treated dishes were seeded with approximately 15×10^6 low passage HEK293T cells 6 hours prior to transfection in complete DMEM. The envelope plasmid (pMDG; 3.8μ g), packaging plasmid (19.01µg), and transfer plasmid (19.01µg) were suspended using 150mM NaCl to a volume of 1.125mL, and added 126nmol of polyethylenimine (Sigma Aldrich) dissolved in a total of 1.125mL. The transfection mixture was vortexed, added to the cells, and incubated overnight at 5% CO₂ and 37°C. The next morning, media was discarded and replaced with 15mL of fresh complete DMEM. At 25 hour intervals following the initial media change, culture supernatants were collected and replenished up to 3 times. Collected supernatants were filtered through a 0.45µm filter, and stored at 4°C prior to concentration. To concentrate virus, 30mL of supernatant was subjected to ultracentrifugation for 2.5 hours at 4°C and 25 000rpm in an SW-28 rotor using a Beckman LM-8 ultracentrifuge. Pellets were resuspended in 100µL of Hank's buffered saline solution (HBSS) supplemented with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA; HBSS/BSA). Pellets were pooled, re-aliquoted in 100µL volumes, and stored at -80°C. To avoid repetitive freeze-thaw cycles, all thawed vials were subsequently stored at 4°C for further use.

To titer concentrated and unconcentrated virus, approximately 8 x 10⁵ HEK293T cells were seeded onto 6-well plates at least 4 hours prior to transduction. At the time of transduction, media was removed and replaced with 1mL of media containing serial 10-fold dilutions of virus and 8µg/mL of protamine sulfate. Following overnight incubation, media was removed and replaced with 4mL of complete DMEM. After an additional 24 hours, virus was titered by counting of EGFP-positive foci by fluorescent microscopy.

Cell Transduction and the performance and the

Transduction of primary bone marrow derived DCs (BMDCs) was performed immediately following DC enrichment. Two million BMDCs were added to each well of a 6 well plate. Lentivirus was added at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 5, supplemented 10µg/mL with DEAE-dextran, in a culture volume of 1mL of complete RPMI plus 4ng/mL IL-4 and 1000U/mL GM-CSF. At 16 hours after infection, 3mL of complete RPMI plus IL-4 and GM-CSF was added to cells.

Transduction of L cells was performed by adding 2×10^6 cells to each well of a 6 well plate. Cells were given at least 6 hours to adhere to the plate. Media was then removed and virus was added at an MOI of 5 supplemented with 8µg/mL of protamine sulfate (Sigma Aldrich) and complete DMEM to a total culture volume of 1mL. At 16 hours post infection, media was removed and replaced with 2mL of fresh DMEM.

Induction of Apoptosis

L cells were transduced with pCCL-EGFP or pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L at an MOI of 5. After 48 hours, cultures were treated with staurosporine (STS; Invitrogen) dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (Bioshop; DMSO) at a final concentration of 4µM for 8 hours. Following the treatment time, supernatants and floating cells were retained, and attached cells were washed with PBS and lifted using 0.25% trypsin-EDTA. All cells were washed 2 times with PBS, once with 1X binding buffer (BD Pharmingen) and resuspended to make 100µL aliquots in flow cytometry tubes. Levels of apoptosis were assessed via staining for 7aminoactinomcin D (7-AAD; 1:20, BD Pharmingen) and annexin V-PE (1:20; BD Pharmingen). Excess stain was washed once and resuspended in 400µL of 1X binding buffer. Stained cells were run through a BD FACS Calibur and analyzed using FlowJo software (TreeStar).

Mouse Bone Marrow DC Isolation and Culture

Mice were used in accordance with protocols approved by the University of Western Ontario Animal Care and Use Subcommittee. Bone marrow was

isolated from femurs and tibias of 6 to 8-week old C57BI/6 mice as previously described (166). Briefly, bone marrow cells were cultured for 4 days in complete RPMI supplemented with the 1000 U/mL of GM-CSF and 4ng/mL of IL-4 (donated by Schering-Plough via Dr. Peta J. O'Connell). At day 4, dendritic cells were enriched by centrifugation over a 13.5% histodenz gradient (25 min, 500 x g).

Cell Staining and Flow Cytometry

Cells were prepared for flow cytometry by washing approximately 2 x 10⁶ cells in a 6-well plate with ice cold HBSS supplemented with 1% BSA. Lightly attached cells were removed by gentle pipetting. Cells were then washed 3 times with HBSS+BSA and 5 minute 500 x g centrifugations. Cell pellets were resuspended in 1mL HBSS/BSA and blocked with 50µL normal goat serum. Cells were then washed, and resuspended to make 100µL aliquots into flow cytometry tubes. Cells were then stained with CD86-PerCP (1:400; BioLegend), CD11c-PE (1:600; BioLegend), and Far Red Live/Dead Viability dye (1:4500; Invitrogen). Excess antibody was washed, and pelletted cells were resuspended in 300µL HBSS, and fixed with an additional 100µL of 4% paraformaldehyde dissolved in PBS. Stained cells were run through a BD FACS Calibur and analyzed with FlowJo Software (TreeStar).

Statistics

GraphPad Prism 4 software was used to perform one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) testing with Tukey's post test when comparing 3 or more

groups, two way ANOVA testing with Bonferroni post test in two variable experiments, and student's T test when comparing 2 groups. Data are presented as group means with ± standard error. Unless otherwise stated, data are representative of n=3 where n represents the number of independent experiments performed. A P-value <0.05 was deemed to be statistically significant.

Reparties (p), Her was endered in stiedelies (see at the solid resting) as at the herein below, at the solid of the standardisp. Between the standards are structured biologic transferrations (second standard) and the standards are structured (second biologic transferrations) (second standard) and the standards are structured (second biologic transferrations) (second standard) and the standards are structured (second biologic transferrations) (second standard) (second standard) (second standard) and the second standard standard (second standard) (second standard) and the second standard standard (second standard), white platestic transferration (second standard) and the second standard standard (second standard), white platestic transferration (second standard) and the second standard standard (second standard), white platestic transferration (second standard) and the second standard standard (second standard), white platestic transferration (second standard) and the second standard (second standard) (second standard), white platestic transferration (second standard) attestic transferration (second standard) (second standard), while platestic transferration (second standard) attestic transferration (second standard) (second standard), while platestic transferration (second standard) attestic transferration (second standard) (second standard), while platestic transferration (second standard)) attestic transferration (second standard) (second standard), second standard), second standard) attestic transferration (second standard) (second standard), second standard), seco

(den al men el per meno cheval el creto como chècales acto espacauto)

Construction of the second of the entropic interpret of the shall be easily in the second of the second o

Results

Non-viral Transfection Methods Are Not Effective in DCs

To asses the efficiency of gene transfer into DCs, a number of non-viral vector-mediated transfection methods were attempted. To perform these studies, I used DC2.4 cells, an immortalized line of immature murine dendritic cells (165). I tested three of the more common transfection methods: cationic polymer transfection, liposome mediated transfection, and nucleofection. In order to obtain both gp140 and M11L expression, I used the previously characterized pHERO-M11L-gp140-CpG-EGFP (143) in conjunction with a control EGFP expression vector, pEGFP-N1. In the case of nucleofection, the control vector used was the manufacturer's supplied pMAX-GFP expression vector. EGFP expression was determined by flow cytometry, and viability was assessed by staining with 7-AAD.

Cationic polymer-mediated transfection was performed on DC2.4 cells using Turbofect, a new transfection reagent marketed by Fermentas (Fig. 1). The reagent control resulted in a viability of 86.1±4.3%. Viability following transfection with the control pEGFP-N1 was seen to be 61.8±16.8%. When the pHERO-M11L-gp140-CpG-EGFP vector was used, viability dropped further to 55.2±19.4%. Statistical analysis proved these differences to not be significant. However, there did appear to be a slight trend towards a lower viability upon transfection of the expression plasmids. To determine transfection efficiency, I gated on viable 7-AAD⁻ cells and the sizes of the EGFP⁺ populations were

Figure 1 – Cationic polymer mediated transfection does not result in significant levels of pHERO transfection in DC2.4 cells. DC2.4 cells were transfected with pEGFP-N1 or pHERO-M11L-gp140-CpG-EGFP using the cationic polymer solution, Turbofect. Forty-eight hours following transfection, cells were collected and analyzed for viability and GFP expression by flow cytometry. (A) Representative flow cytometric density plots showing viable (7-AAD⁻ cells) and pooled data from 3 independent experiments showing the mean ± standard error. (B) Representative flow cytometric plots showing GFP expressing cells as a percentage of viable cells as gated in *A*, and pooled data from 3 independent experiments. One way ANOVA testing was performed to determine any significant differences between groups.



assessed. More transfectants were observed when using the pEGFP-N1 control vector, with approximately 9.4±7.0% of viable cells being transfected. However, use of the pHERO-M11L-gp140-CpG-EGFP vector resulted in a lower, though statistically insignificant, level of transfection, as only 2.2±1.0% of viable cells expressed EGFP as determined by one way ANOVA.

Liposome mediated transfection was performed in DC2.4 cells using the commercially available reagent Lipofectamine 2000 from Invitrogen (Fig 2). This reagent is among the most common used for transfection, normally capable of transfecting a wide variety of cell lines. As in the case of the Turbofect reagent, treatment with Lipofectamine alone did not result in a large loss in viability (93.5±1.7%). When the pEGFP-N1 vector was used in transfection, viability decreased significantly to 77.3±5.5%. The drop in viability was more evident when transfecting the pHERO-M11L-gp140-CpG-EGFP vector, as viability decreased to 73.4±4.1%. I then examined the percentage of viable cells that also expressed EGFP. As I observed with the Turbofect reagent, the pEGFP-N1 vector was transfected at a slightly higher efficiency than pHERO-M11L-gp140-CpG-EGFP, 7.5±3.8% compared to 2.4±1.4%. However, this difference was not observed to be statistically significant as determined by one way ANOVA.

I also attempted to use Nucleofection developed by Amaxa due to its reputation of being able to transfect "hard-to-transfect" cells (Fig.3). However, it is important to note that Nucleofection utilizes the smallest number of starting cells (2.5×10^5) . As a transfection control, I utilized the pMAX-GFP expression vector supplied by Amaxa. Nucleofection of DC2.4 cells in the absence of plasmid was

Figure 2 – Liposome mediated transfection does not result in significant levels of pHERO transfection in DC2.4 cells. DC2.4 cells were transfected with pEGFP-N1 or pHERO-M11L-gp140-CpG-EGFP using the liposome solution, Lipofectamine 2000. Forty-eight hours following transfection, cells were collected and analyzed for viability and GFP expression by flow cytometry. (A) Representative flow cytometric density plots showing viable (7-AAD⁻ cells) and pooled data from 3 independent experiments showing the mean \pm standard error. (B) Representative flow cytometric plots showing GFP expressing cells as a percentage of viable cells as gated in *A*, and pooled data from 3 independent experiments. One way ANOVA testing was performed to determine any significant differences between groups. *P < 0.05.



Figure 3 – Nucleofection is not effective in DC2.4 cells. DC2.4 cells were transfected with pMAX-GFP or pHERO-M11L-gp140-CpG-EGFP via Nucleofection. Twenty-four hours following transfection, cells were collected and analyzed for viability and GFP expression by flow cytometry. (A) Representative flow cytometric density plots showing viable (7-AAD⁻ cells) and pooled data from 3 independent experiments showing the mean \pm standard error. (B) Representative flow cytometric plots showing GFP expressing cells as a percentage of viable cells as gated in *A*, and pooled data from 3 independent experiments. One way ANOVA testing was performed to determine any significant differences between groups. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01



shown to result in 69.2±2.3% viability, suggesting that the pulsing is more cytotoxic than both Lipofectamine and Turbofect alone. Inclusion of any of the plasmids significantly reduced viability, as nucleofection of pMAX-GFP resulted in 46±6.1% viability, and 35.8±2.1% when using pHERO-M11L-gp140-CpG-EGFP. Nucleofection of the GFP control plasmid occurred at an efficiency of 72.5±14.9%. However, there was a large decrease in transfection efficiency when using the pHERO-M11L-gp140-CpG-EGFP, as only 0.6±0.1% of viable cells expressed EGFP.

Generation of Lentivirus Transfer Vector

In addition to non-viral methods of gene transfer, I also attempted to use lentiviral vectors to transduce the DCs. This method necessitated the construction of transfer vectors encoding the integration cassette to be included into the virus particle.

IRES-containing vectors were constructed starting from the pCCLrHer2/neu-IRES-M11L vector obtained from Dr. Jeffrey Medin's laboratory (University of Toronto). The integration cassette of this vector contained rHer2/neu downstream of the elongation factor 1 alpha (EF1α) promoter, flanked by a 5' Asc I site and a 3' Sal I site, and an IRES-M11L fragment immediately downstream of rHer2/neu, flanked at both 5' and 3' ends with an Asc I site. I excised both fragments by Asc I/Sal I double digest, and amplified the EGFP gene from the pEGFP-N1 vector, including a 5' Asc I site and 3' Sal I site. The EGFP fragment was ligated to the pCCL backbone. PCR amplification of the Figure 4 – Generation of pCCL-EGFP lentiviral transfer vector. The pCCL backbone was obtained by digesting a pCCL-rHer2/neu-IRES-M11L lentiviral transfer vector. EGFP was ligated downstream of the EF1α promoter. (A) Agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR amplification products using EGFP-specific primers. Red square denotes clone used in sequencing. L represents DNA size ladder. C represents control pEGFP-N1 vector. (B) Sequence comparison of selected clone and EF1α sequences.

Lane 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14

с

Β.

Α.

> EF1alpha >pCCL-EGFP	GTGCCGTGTGTGGTTCCCGCGGGCCTGGCCTCTTTACGGGTTATGGCCCTTGCGTGCCTT 300 GTNCCGNNNGTNGT-CCCGCGNNC-TGGCNTCNTTNNGGNTNNGGCCCTNCGTNCCT- 70 ** *** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** ** **
>EF1alpha	GAATTACTTCCACCTGGCTGCAGTACGTGATTCTTGATCCCGAGCTTCGGGTTGGAAGTG 360
>pCCL-EGFP	GRATTACTNCCNCCNNGCTGCAGTACGTGATTNTNNATCCCGAGCTTCGGGTTGGAAGTG 130
	****** ** ** *************** * ********
>EF1alpha	GGTGGGAGAGTTCGAGGCCTTGCGCTTAAGGAGCCCCTTCGCCTCGTGCTTGAGTTGAGG 420
>pCCL-EGFP	GGTGGGAGAGTTCGAGGCCTTGCGCTTAAGGAGCCCCTTCGCCTCGTGCTTGAGTNGAGG 190

>EF1alpha	CCTGGCCTGGGCGCTGGGGCCGCCGCGTGCGAATCTGGTGGCACCTTCGCGCCTGTCTCG 480
>pCCL-EGFP	CCTGGCCTGGGCGCTGGGGCCGCCGCGTGCGAATCTGGTGGCNCCTTCGCGCCTGTCTCG 250

>EF1alpha	CTGCTTTCGATAAGTCTCTAGCCATTTAAAATTTTTGATGACCTGCTGCGACGCTTTTTT 540
>pCCL-EGFP	CTGCTTTCGATAAGTCTCTAGCCATTTAAAATTTTTGATGNCCTGCTGCGACGCTTTTTT 310

>EF1alpha	TCTGGCAAGATAGTCTTGTAAATGCGGGCCAAGATCTGCACACTGGTATTTCGGTTTTTG 600
>pCCL-EGFP	TCTGGCAAGATAGTCTTGTAAATGCGGGCCAAGATCTGCACACTGGTATTTCGGTTTTTTG 370
	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
>EF1alpha	GGGCCGCGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
>pCCL-EGFP	GGGCCGCGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

>EF1alpha	TGCGAGCGCGGCCACCGAGAATCGGACGGGGGTAGTCTCAAGCTGGCCGGCC
>pCCL-EGFP	TGCGAGCGCGGCCACCGAGAATCGGACGGGGGTAGTCTCAAGCTGGCCGGCC

>EF1alpha	TGCCTGGCCTCGCGCCGCCGTGTATCGCCCCGCCCTGGGCGGCAAGGCTGGCCCGGTCGG 780
>pCCL-EGFP	TGCCTGGCCTCGCGCCGCGTGTATCGCCCCGCCCTGGGCGGCAAGGCTGGCCCGGTCGG 550
	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

EGFP insert revealed an 850bp fragment in lanes 7, 11, 12, and 13, consistent with the size of gene (Fig. 4A). Further verification of the promoter was done by sequence alignment of the sample in lane 7 with the consensus sequence of the EF1 α promoter (Fig 4B). Although gaps in the sequence were observed, the presence of the correct nucleotides was verified using alternate primers.

To generate pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L, the obtained pCCL-EGFP vector was linearized using Sal I and treated with calf alkaline phosphatase to prevent self-ligation. The IRES-M11L fragment was generated by PCR amplification containing Sal I sites at both 5' and 3' ends. After ligation, presence of the insert was determined by PCR amplification using primers at the 3' end of EGFP and the 3' end of M11L (Fig. 5A). As expected, I observed a band at a size of approximately 2kb in Iane 10. DNA sequencing was performed and that of the generated vector was aligned with the sequence of the IRES-M11L fragment (Fig. 5B). Errors were observed in the IRES sequence, possibly influencing levels of M11L expression.. However, misread nucleotides and sequencing gaps may also be a product of the complex secondary structure inherent to the IRES region. The cloned M11L was, however, seen to match the consensus sequence (Accession number: M93049).

In addition to the IRES containing vectors, I generated a bicistronic transfer vector (pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L) utilizing a bidirectional promoter. We amplified the M11L gene from a previously purified IRES-M11L fragment adding a 5' Pst I site and 3' Sal I site. Starting from a pCCL-EGFPminCMV-hPGK-Luc vector, the luciferase gene was excised using Pst I and Sal I. Figure 5 – Generation of pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L lentiviral transfer vector. The IRES-M11L fragment was amplified by PCR and ligated into pCCL-EGFP immediately downstream of EGFP. (A) Agarose gel electrophoresis PCR amplified IRES-M11L using orientation specific primers. L corresponds to DNA size ladder. Red box denotes clone selected for sequencing. (B) Sequence comparison of IRES-M11L sequence with the selected pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L clone.

Α.

pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L



Β.

>IRES-H11L >pCCL-EGFP-IRES-H11L	GTCGACGCCCTCTCCCT NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNTGNNNGANCTGTACANGTAAGTCGACGCCCCTCTCCCT *****************	18 60
>IRES-M11L	CCCCCCCCCTAACGTTACTGGCCGAAGCCGCTTGGAATAAGGCCGGTGTGCGTTTGTCT	78
>pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L	CCCCCCCCTAACGTTACTGGCCGAAGCCGCTTGGAATAAGGCCGGTGTGCGTTTGTCT	118
>IRES-M11L	ATATGTTATTTTCCACCATATTGCCGTCTTTTGGCAATGTGAGGGCCCGGAAACCTGGCC	138
>pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L	ATATGTTGTTTTCCACCATATTGCCGTCTTTTGGCAATGTGAGGGCCCGGAAACCTGGCC	178
>IRES-M11L >pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L	CTGTCTTCTTGACGAGCATTCCTAGGGGTCTTTCCCCTCTCGCCAAAGGAATGCAAGGTC CTGTCTTCTTGACGAGCATTCCTAGGGGTCTTTCCCCTCTCGCCAAAGGAATGCAAGGTC ***********************************	198 238
>IRES-M11L >pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L	TGTTGAATGTCGTGAAGGAAGCAGTTCCTCTGGAAGCTTCTTGAAGACAAACAA	258 298
>IRES-M11L	TAGCGACCCTTTGCAGGCAGCGGAACCCCCCCCCCGGCGACAGGTGCCTCTGCGGCCAAA	318
>pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L	TAGCGACCCTTTGCAGGCAGCGGAACCCCCTCACCTGGCGACAGGTGCCTCTGCGGCCAAA	358
>IRES-M11L	AGCCACGTGTATAAGATACACCTGCAAAGGCGGCACAACCCCAGTGCCACGTTGTGAGTT	378
>pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L	AGCCACGTGTATAAGATACACCTGCAAAGGCGGCACAACCCCAGTGCCACGTTGTGAGTT	418
>IRES-M11L >pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L	GGATAGTTGTGGAAAGAGTCAAATGGCTCTCCTCAAGCGTATTCAACAAGGGGCTGAAGG GGATAGTTGTGGAAAGAGTCAAATGGCTCTCCTCAAGCGTATTCAACAAGGGGCTGAAGG #################################	438 478
>IRES-M11L	ATGCCCAGAAGGTACCCCATTGTATGGGATCTGATCTGGGGCCTCGGTACACATGCTTTA	498
>pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L	ATGCCCAGAAGGTACCCCATTGTATGGGATCTGATCT	538
>IRES-M11L	CATGTGTTTAGTCGAGGTTAAAAAAACGTCTAGGCCCCCCGAACCACGGGGACGTGGTTT	558
>pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L	CATGTGTTTAGTCGAGGTTAAAAAAACGTCTAGGCCCCCCGAACCACGGGGACGTGGTTT	598

I then inserted the M11L fragment, whose presence was verified using M11L specific primers. The insert was verified by DNA sequencing and compared to the consensus EGFP sequence (Fig. 6; accession number U55762).

To show that both genes were being expressed, I transduced HEK293T cells with each transfer vector. EGFP expression was assessed by flow cytometry, while M11L expression was detected by western blotting (Fig. 7). As expected, I observed EGFP expression in all of the vectors examined (Fig. 7A). The pCCL-EGFP vector was observed to have the highest MFI of all vectors, 126.1±53.7. Furthermore, the level of EGFP expression was lower but not significantly when transducing with pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L, which had an MFI of 40.3. Interestingly, the pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-Luc vector displayed an MFI of 106.5, similar to that of pCCL-EGFP. However, it did trend towards a lower difference with its companion pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L than with the IRES containing vectors (Fig. 7A top graph). The high variability in the level of EGFP expression may be explained by the use of different virus stocks in each attempt. When assessing M11L expression, I included the pHERO-M11L-CpGgp140-EGFP vector as a control, which was shown previously to express M11L (143). Both the pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L and pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L vectors expressed M11L (Fig. 7B).

Effect of M11L On Staurosporine-induced Apoptosis

I next wanted to examine if M11L transduction resulted in protection from apoptosis. As rat L cells were previously used in the characterization of the antiFigure 6 – Sequence analysis of pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L lentiviral transfer vector. The M11L gene was inserted downstream of the hPGK promoter. Sequencing was performed using an outward N-terminus EGFP sequencing primer. Shown is the alignment of the hPGK promoter controlling M11L expression, and the M11L gene.

pCCL-EGFP-minhCMV-hPGK-M11L

>M11L >pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L	ATGATGTCTCGTTTAAAGACGGCCGTATA GGGGGATCCCCCGGGCTGCAGATGATGTCTCGTTTAAAGACGGCCGTATA **********************************	29 550
>M11L >pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L	CGATTATCTGAACGACGTGGATATAACGGAGTGTACGGAAATGGATCTAC CGATTATCTGAACGACGTGGATATAACGGAGTGTACGGAAATGGATCTAC **********	79 600
>M11L >pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L	TGTGTCAGTTGAGTAATTGTTGCGATTTTATCAACGAAACGTACGCAAAA TGTGTCAGTTGAGTAATTGTTGCGATTTTATCAACGAAACGTACGCAAAA *******	129 650
>M11L >pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L	AACTACGACACGTTGTATGATATCATGGAACGGGACATTTTGTCGTATAA AACTACGACACGTTGTATGATATCATGGAACGGGACATTTTGTCGTATAA ***********	179 700
>M11L >pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L	TATCGTGAACATTAAAAATACGTTGACGTTCGCGTTACGAGACGCGTCAC TATCGTGAACATTAAAAATACGTTGACGTTCGCGTTACGAGACGCGTCAC	229 750
>hPGK >pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L	CCGGTAGGCGCCAACCGGCTCCGTTCTTTGGTGGCCCCCTTCGCGCCACCT CCGGTAGGCGCCAACCGGCTCCGTTCTTTGGTGGCCCCCTTCGCGCCACCT	50 50
>hPGK >pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L	TCTACTCCTCCCCTAGTCAGGAAGTTCCCCCCCGCCCGCAGCTCGCGTC TCTACTCCTCCCCTAGTCAGGAAGTTCCCCCCCGCCCGCAGCTCGCGTC	100 100
>hPGK >pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L	GTGCAGGACGTGACAAATGGAAGTAGCACGTCTCACTAGTCTCGTGCAGA GTGCAGGACGTGACAAATGGAAGTAGCACGTCTCACTAGTCTCGTGCAGA ***********	150 150
>hPGK >pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L	TGGACAGCACCGCTGAGCAATGGAAGCGGGTAGGCCTTTGGGGCAGCGGC TGGACAGCACCGCTGAGCAATGGAAGCGGGTAGGCCTTTGGGGCAGCGGC *******	200 200
>hPGK >pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L	CAATAGCAGCTTTGCTCCTTCGCTTTCTGGGCTCAGAGGCTGGGAAGGGG CAATAGCAGCTTTGCTCCTTCGCTTTCTGGGCTCAGAGGCTGGGAAGGGG	250 250
>hPGK >pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L	TGGGTCCGGGGGCGGGCTCAGGGGCGGGCTCAGGGGCGGGGCGGGC	300 300
>hPGK >pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L	GAAGGTCCTCCGGAGGCCCGGCATTCTGCACGCTTCAAAAGCGCACGTCT GAAGGTCCTCCGGAGGCCCGGCATTCTGCACGCTTCAAAAGCGCACGTCT	350 350
>hPGK >pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L	GCCGCGCTGTTCTCCTCTTCCTCATCTCCGGGCCTTTCGACCTGCAGCC	399 399
Figure 7 – Protein expression in transduced HEK 293T cells. HEK 293T cells were transduced with the designated lentiviral vector at an MOI of 5 and analyzed 48 hours later. (A) Representative data showing the level of EGFP transduction and intensity in cells transduced with the designated viral vector. Upper graph compares EGFP expression in paired experiments in transduced cells. Horizontal bar represents mean of data. Bottom graph shows pooled data representative of n=3 (pCCL-EGFP and pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L) or n=2 (pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-Luc and pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-M11L) independent experiments. Student's t test was used to compare pCCL-EGFP with pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L and pCCL-EGFP-minCMV-hPGK-Luc with pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L. (B) Western blot showing M11L expression in transduced cells.



apoptotic properties of M11L (143), , I transduced rat L cells with pCCL-EGFP or pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L at an MOI of 5. Transduced and non-transduced cells were treated with 4 μ M STS or a DMSO control for 8 hours, 48 hours following transduction. STS functions as a general kinase inhibitor, leading to apoptosis through the intrinsic pathway. In order to specifically examine the population of transduced cells, I gated on EGFP⁺ cells (as shown on Figure 8A Column 2). Levels of viability and apoptosis were determined by staining using annexin V and 7-AAD. Exclusion of both dyes represents viable cells, annexin V⁺ cells are early apoptotic, and annexin V⁺ 7-AAD⁺ cells are late apoptotic or already dead.

I first observed viability and apoptosis profiles in transduced and untransduced cell populations 48 hours after infection, in the absence of an apoptotic inducer (Fig 8). Untransduced cells were 95.3±0.8% viable (annexin V⁻ 7-AAD⁻), whereas pCCL-EGFP and pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L transductants were 90.8±1.7% and 86.2±7.4% viable respectively. The high initial viability was also reflected in a small population of early and late apoptotic cells. Untransduced cultures were 2.4±0.4% annexin V⁺ 7-AAD⁻, in comparison to the pCCL-EGFP transductants, 5.3±1.2%, and pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L transductants which were 7.7±4.4%. Examination of the late apoptotic population showed sizes of 1.1±0.4% in untransduced cells, 2.4±0.6% in pCCL-EGFP transductants, and 5.0±2.2% in pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L transductants. None of the differences were observed to be significant following two way ANOVA testing. These results show that the transduction process did not result in any significant insult to viability of the cells. Figure 8 – Viability profiles of transduced L cells following staurosporine induced apoptosis. Mouse L cells were transduced with pCCL-EGFP or pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L at an MOI of 5. Two days following transduction, L cells were cultured in complete DMEM containing 4µM STS for 8 hours. Following this, cells were washed and stained using 7-AAD and annexin V to detect apoptosis. pCCL-EGFP and pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L cells were previously gated on the EGFP* population. (A) Representative data showing viability profiles of treated cells. Column 1 shows viability profile of untransduced cells. Column 2 shows gating of EGFP* populations in transduced cell populations. Column 3 shows viability profile of total cell population in transduced populations based on gating in column 2. (B) Graph of pooled data. Representative of n=3 independent experiments. Two way ANOVA testing was performed to determine any significant differences and interactions between drug treated and transduced groups.



Next I examined the effects of STS treatment on the untransduced and transduced cultures (Fig. 8A rows 2 and 4). Treatment with STS resulted in a large decrease in viability in all cells. Untransduced cultures were 43.0±5.1% viable, 40.7±15.5% early apoptotic, and 2.6±0.9% late apoptotic. The pCCL-EGFP transductants decreased to 33.0±3.6% viable, an increased to 50.3±14.3% early apoptotic and 4.6±1.4% late apoptotic. Similarly, the pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L transductants were 25.4±6.6% viable, 53.4±11.0% early apoptotic and 4.5±1.1% late apoptotic. However, I did not observe significant differences in viability or apoptosis levels between untransduced and transduced populations.

Short Term Effects of M11L Transduction

As mature DCs are required for immunogenicity, I wanted to determine if the transduction process affected the relative proportions of mature and immature DC populations, and if it decreased viability of these populations in the short term. This determination would allow us to observe if the transduction process resulted in an alteration of the cytokine environment that in turn would influence viability or the maturation profile independently of the genes being transduced. To do so, bone marrow cells were isolated from femurs and tibias of mice, cultured in IL-4 and GM-CSF and from these cultures, BMDCs were enriched 4 days later. Immediately following enrichment, DCs were transduced with the lentiviral vector. To begin, my studies focused on the pCCL-EGFP or pCCL-EGFP-M11L vectors. Infection proceeded for 24 hours, following which effects of virus treatment on the BMDC populations were assessed by examining viability and maturation via CD11c and CD86 expression.

As viability was a major problem using non-viral vector-mediated transfection, I first assessed whether transduction also had the same negative effects (Fig. 9, top row). To measure this, the BMDC cultures were stained with a fluorescent vital dye taken up by dead cells and whole culture viability was examined by flow cytometry. Untransduced cultures were 92.7 % viable. Transduction did not appear to have an effect on viability, as viability levels of 92.4% and 90.6% were observed when using the pCCL-EGFP and pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L vectors respectively.

Since the maturation state of the BMDCs is relevant to their capacity to activate T cells, I examined the relative proportions of immature CD11c⁺CD86⁻ and mature CD11c⁺CD86⁺ in total DC cultures described above (Fig. 9B). Untransduced DCs were seen to be 76.6% mature and 19.3% immature. Transduction with either vector did not appear to have a large impact on maturation, as pCCL-EGFP transduced cultures had a mature to immature ratio of 77.7% to 18.0%. Additionally, M11L expression did not appear to increase maturation as pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L transduced cultures were seen to be 79.3% mature and 15.5% mature. These results suggest that transduction with these vectors had little to no effect on viability or the proportion of mature and immature cells in the total DC population.

Figure 9 – Lentiviral transduction process does not affect DC maturation or viability. Primary murine BMDCs were isolated and transduced with pCCL-EGFP or pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L. Cells were harvested 24 hours following transduction and analyzed by flow cytometry for EGFP expression, viability and cell markers CD86 and CD11c. (A) Representative data showing analysis of viability of the DC cultures. At right, pooled data representative of n=2 independent experiments. One way ANOVA testing was performed to determine any significant differences. (B) Representative data showing the gating of mature and immature DC populations based on CD11c and CD86 expression. Graph at right shows pooled data. One way ANOVA testing was performed independently on CD86⁻ and CD86⁺ populations to determine any significant differences from the use of any vectors. (C) Representative data showing histograms of GFP expression in mature and immature DC fractions of pCCL-EGFP and pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L treated cultures. Scatter plot at right shows data from 2 experiments. Lines connect matched pairs. Horizontal bar represents means of data.



I also examined the level of EGFP expression in the mature and immature fractions (Fig. 9C). I observed that the pCCL-EGFP lentiviral vector transduced 51% of CD11c⁺CD86⁻ cells and 18.7% of CD11c⁺CD86⁺ cells. The pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L vector also displayed an increased level of transduction in immature cells, 43.5%, compared to mature cells, 14.5%. Although the differences were not seen to be statistically different, there is a consistent trend towards transduction of predominantly immature cells.

Long Term Culture of Bone Marrow-derived DCs

Owing to the potential ability of M11L to protect BMDCs from apoptosis, I performed long term cultures of primary BMDCs to observe any effects of M11L transduction on longevity *in vitro*. To do so, bone marrow was harvested from femurs and tibias of mice, and differentiation into DCs was induced with IL-4 and GM-CSF and enriched for DCs 4 days later. Immediately following enrichment, cells were transduced with pCCL-EGFP and pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L. The transduced cells were then maintained in culture up to day 13, with media and cytokines (GM-CSF and IL-4) replenished every 3 days after enrichment. At days 7, 10, and 13, cells were harvested and analyzed based on viability, and maturation state via flow cytometry. I analyzed the effects of transduction from two perspectives. Firstly, I determined if there were long-term effects of the transduction process on the total culture. Secondly, I specifically examined EGFP⁺ cells to determine the effects of M11L transduction on longevity of the BMDCs.

To determine if the virus transduction process affected maturation of the cultures in long-term, I examined the proportions of CD86⁻ and CD86⁺ populations in untransduced and transduced cultures (Fig. 10). To do this, I gated on viable cells CD11c⁺ and examined the distribution of CD11c⁺ CD86⁺ and CD86⁻ cells. In the untransduced cultures, the immature CD86⁻ population initially comprised approximately 25.9% of total viable cells while the mature population comprised 63.2% of viable cells. The mature population steadily decreased over the course of the culture, eventually falling to approximately 21.1%. Conversely, the immature population comprised more of the total viable cells by day 13, making approximately 61.7% of viable cells. Transduction with either virus did not appear to influence the maturation profile. Cultures transduced with pCCL-EGFP were initially 69.0% mature and 21.8% immature. At day 13, the profile switched to 15.6% mature and 57.9% immature. In the case of pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L transduced cultures, the initial profile was 64.9% mature and 26.1% immature. As with the other cultures, there was a shift towards the immature fraction, becoming 12.6% mature and 67.3% immature. These results may suggest increased cell death among the mature population. As I observed in the short-term study, there does not appear to be any lingering effects of the transduction process in the long-term study.

Due to the importance of maturation state in a DC vaccine, I examined the levels of EGFP expressing CD11c⁺ CD86⁺ and CD11c⁺ CD86⁻ cells based on the gates shown in figure 10 over the time course to see the levels of transduction in mature and immature fractions in the total culture (Fig. 11). The percentage of

Figure 10 – The process of virus transduction does not have a detectable affect on DC maturation in the long term. Primary murine BMDCs were isolated and transduced 4 days later with pCCL-EGFP or pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L. Cells were examined at days 7, 10, and 13 post transduction by flow cytometry for CD11c and CD86 expression. (A) Representative data showing CD86 and CD11c staining in DC cultures collected at the time point shown (days post BMDC isolation). (B) Graph representing pooled data. Day 7 and 10 are representative of 2 experiments. Day 13 representative of 1 experiment. One way ANOVA testing was performed between the three groups on each day to determine any significant differences.



immature EGFP⁺ pCCL-EGFP transductants increased from 55.0% to 68% by the end of the culture. However, there was a greater increase in the percentage of EGFP⁺ mature cells, which increased to 70.1% from 30.9%. In the case of pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L transduced cultures, the level of EGFP⁺ immature cells showed an overall decrease to 21.2% from an initial level of 30.2%. Conversely, the level of EGFP⁺ mature cells increased from 14.7% to 21.7%. Repeats were performed using different virus stocks, possibly resulting in the variable levels of transduction. However, consistent to all trials was the difference in EGFP MFI observed when comparing pCCL-EGFP transduced cells to pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L transductants.

To determine if transduction of DCs with M11L resulted in less cell death, I examined the change in viability of both transduced and untransduced populations over the 13 day time course in the same population of cells analyzed in Figures 10 and 11 (Fig. 12A, top graph). I first examined the rate of death in the total culture to see if globally, all cultures were dying at approximately the same rate. To do so, I gated on total CD11c⁺ cells. The untransduced culture decreased in viability from 80.3% to 46.5% at day 13. The transduced cultures also had a similar day 7 viability, 79.6% for pCCL-EGFP and 76.3% for pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L). As with the untransduced cultures, there was a drop in viability by day 13, as pCCL-EGFP transduced cultures were 47.3% viable. This suggests that from a general outlook, each culture was dying at the same rate. Following

Figure 11 – The level of GFP⁺ mature DCs increases over time. Primary murine BMDCs were isolated and transduced 4 days later with pCCL-EGFP or pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L. Cells were examined at days 7, 10, and 13 post transduction by flow cytometry for EGFP expression in the mature CD86⁺ and immature CD86⁻ populations. (A) Representative data showing the level of EGFP expression in pCCL-EGFP and pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L mature and immature cells. (B) Graph representing pooled data. Day 7 and 10 are representative of 2 experiments. Day 13 representative of 1 experiment.



Β.



this observation, I wanted to see specifically how levels of transduced EGFP⁺ cells related to the decrease in total culture viability.

I next examined the persistence of transduced EGFP⁺ DCs in the culture (Fig. 12B). To do so, I gated on viable CD11c⁺ cells and measured the level of transductants up to day 13. The pCCL-EGFP transductants comprised 36.7% of viable CD11c⁺ cells at day 7, and increased to 69.7% at day 13. Conversely, pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L transductants were initially 28.0% of viable CD11c⁺ cells, increasing to 42.0%. However, the sizes of both EGFP⁺ populations appear to trend towards an increase as the average population size nearly doubles. It would appear as though in the long term study, the transduced cells persist longer; however M11L expression does not appear to have a significant effect.

DC Maturation Cocktail Does Not Appear to Increase Mature Transductants

The importance of mature DCs in modulating the immune response is well understood. However, I have observed in my transduction studies that the level of EGFP⁺ CD11c⁺ CD86⁺ population was lower than that of the EGFP⁺ CD11c⁺ CD86⁻. Therefore, I attempted to see if the application of a maturation cocktail to the DC cultures following transduction would increase the number of mature transductants. To do this, I treated the cells with a previously characterized maturation cocktail consisting of IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, CpG, and PGE2, 24 hours after transduction; thus, transduced immature cells would undergo maturation. The DCs were subjected to the maturation cocktail for another 16 hours prior to analysis by flow cytometry.

Figure 12 – Effect of M11L expression on DC viability *in vitro*. Primary murine BMDCs were isolated and transduced 4 days later with pCCL-EGFP or pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L. Cells were examined at days 7, 10, and 13 post transduction by flow cytometry for EGFP expression in the mature CD86⁺ and immature CD86⁻ populations. (A) Representative data showing gating of viable CD11c⁺ cells at each day, and graph shows pooled data from n=2 independent experiments. (B) Representative data showing EGFP expression in viable CD11c⁺ populations. Graph shows pooled data from n=2 independent experiments



I observed that administration of the maturation cocktail did not affect viability of the cells (Fig. 13A, top row). Untransduced DCs treated with the cocktail were observed to be 92.7% viable. Transduction with pCCL-EGFP resulted in 91.4% viable cells, and pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L treated cultures were 91.1% viable. As these numbers are similar to viability levels of DC cultures 24 hours post-transduction, it appears as though the cocktail did not affect viability. As expected, the maturation cocktail resulted in a shift towards a CD86⁺ state (Fig. 13A, bottom row). Untransduced cultures shifted to 88.2% mature and 7.5% immature. The pCCL-EGFP transduced cultures were 87.0% mature and 8.3% immature. Lastly the pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L transductants were 87.8% mature and 7.5% immature.

Next, I examined the level of EGFP expression in the mature and immature fractions from a standpoint of transduction efficiency and level of EGFP expression by MFI (Fig. 13B). I observed that regardless of the lentiviral vector, higher numbers of transductants were seen in the immature fraction. In cultures without the maturation cocktail, the pCCL-EGFP vector transduced 60.1% immature cells and 28.9% mature cells. The pCCL-EGFP-M11L vector displayed a much lower transduction efficiency, at 14.4% mature cells, and 9.1% mature cells. In cocktail treated cultures, the pCCL-EGFP vector transduced 54.4% of immature cells and 32.7% of mature cells. The pCCL-EGFP-M11L vector overall again transduced fewer cells, 12.4% immature compared to 9.1% of mature cells.

The MFI resulting from pCCL-EGFP transduction was also higher in all cases. Taken together, these results demonstrate that the inclusion of the IRES-

Figure 13 – Administration of a maturation cocktail does not greatly increase the level of mature GFP⁺ BMDCs. Primary murine BMDCs were isolated and transduced 4 days later with pCCL-EGFP or pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L. Twenty-four hours following transduction, BMDCs were cultured in the presence of a maturation cocktail consisting of IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-6, CpG, and PGE2 for 16 hours. Cells were then collected and analyzed by flow cytometry for viability, GFP, CD11c, and CD86. (A) Representative data showing gating of viable cells, and of mature and immature DC populations. (B) Histograms depicting GFP expression in pCCL-EGFP and pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L transduced cells in the presence and absence of cocktail. Data is representative of one experiment.



M11L sequence negatively affects the level of transduction by the lentiviral vectors. Furthermore, regardless of the expression vector used, there appears to be a bias towards the infection of immature DCs. Use of the maturation cocktail does not appear to greatly influence the proportion on mature transductants.

Discussion

The high capacity of DCs to initiate an immune response makes them an attractive option for immunotherapy. However, an efficient gene transfer method is required in order to efficiently introduce the antigen into DCs for vaccination purposes. I have assessed both non-viral and viral vector-mediated methods of gene transfer and observed that viral-vector mediated gene transfer provided the best balance between viability and efficiency of what????.. Using the pCCL-EGFP vector, I observed upwards of 40% transduction efficiency 48 hours after infection in BMDCs. However, the IRES-containing bicistronic vector appeared to transduce DCs far less efficiently, transducing slightly more than 10% of DCs at 48 hours post-infection. Curiously, I observed that pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L expressed EGFP at considerably reduced levels as compared with pCCL-EGFP. From my results, it is unclear if this is a direct result of M11L expression, the presence of an IRES, or the size of the integration cassette. Transduction with any of the viral vectors did not result in a large decrease in viability. Conversely, I have shown that conventional transfection reagents such as Lipofectamine or Turbofect do not mediate a high transfection efficiency of DCs. In my trials, I never observed transfection efficiencies greater than 5% with either method, while viability was a major problem also. Nucleofection resulted in the highest transfection efficiency of the three methods tested. However, it also had the lowest viability. This result coupled with the limited number of cells one can use in a single transfection, greatly limits the overall number of transfected cells that

80

expression by Langerhans cells results in the maturation of these cells, their migration to the lymph nodes, and induction of an HIV-specific Th1 immune response. The system was initially characterized using a simian HIV-based DNA construct, which showed a decrease in viral rebound when administered with HAART therapy (181). Later studies showed that DermaVir was capable of inducing HIV-specific CD8⁺ effector and central memory responses (182). This form of therapy has shown clinical potential, as it has been cleared for Phase II clinical trials.

In order to assess if the level of M11L expression in the generated vector is sufficient for protection from apoptosis, I used pharmacological induction of apoptosis. The previous characterization of M11L function made use of immortalized cells treated with STS to induce apoptosis (141). I observed that transduction with my viral vectors did not result in a decrease in viability of the target L cells. Following STS treatment, M11L expression did not appear to result in any protective effect as viability levels appeared to decrease but not significantly. Population sizes of the primary apoptotic (annexin V⁺ 7-AAD) and secondary apoptotic (annexin V⁺ 7-AAD⁺) were also examined. I did not notice any significant differences arising from STS treatment following transduction in either population. However, the late apoptotic population in pCCL-EGFP-IRES-M11L transductants did not appear to change following STS treatment, whereas the same population in untransduced and pCCL-EGFP transduced cells increased nearly 2-fold. This result may suggest a slight protective role by M11L.

endési kukasi karala Armana Kerdi, Keseléstety sistarén a peprist peristan ef

In future experiments, the STS treatment experiment can be replicated in primary BMDCs. Although DCs *in vivo* are triggered to undergo apoptosis via the extrinsic pathway due to Fas-FasL interactions with CD8⁺ T cells, induction of apoptosis may result in clearer observations than the long term culture. A step further than this would be to use the Fas-FasL interactions in DCs to consolidate the effects of M11L on the intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic pathways. However, as the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways converge at the level of the mitochondria, it would be expected that both STS treatment and Fas-FasL interactions in DCs would have similar results. Alternatively, apoptosis levels may also be measured by examining the levels of mitochondrial proteins associated with apoptosis, including cytochrome c which is released into the cytoplasm due to the effects of Bak and Bax.

The discovery of an efficient and safe method of gene delivery to DCs is only one obstacle in the generation of DC-based vaccines. The immune response generated from such a vaccine ultimately depends on maturation and activation of the genetically engineered DCs. Firstly, I observed that transduction of a primary BMDC population did not have an effect on the proportion of mature versus immature cells. This is in agreement with findings from other groups that also performed phenotypic studies of lentivirus transduced DCs (183). In one study, they made use of the same three plasmid system, including a GFP expression transfer vector. They observed no increase in the mean fluorescence of total culture CD86. Secondly, transduction with M11L did not influence the maturation state either. Interestingly, I consistently observed a greater portion of the EGFP⁺ cells residing within the immature CD86⁻ population. This may be explained by as of yet unknown restriction factors present within the mature CD86⁺ population or a bias towards the infection of immature cells. Similar mechanisms are observed in CD4⁺ T cells, where their activation state can influence susceptibility to infection by HIV-1 (184). Research conducted in 2007 by Dong *et al.* demonstrated that HIV-1 infection may be restricted in some subsets of mature DCs (184). Specifically, they found that LPS or TNF- α -matured DCs restrict HIV infection post-entry, at the level of reverse transcription and integration. Other groups have reported the selective infection of a subset of nonmaturing DCs in human blood, and the prevention of maturation by reducing antigen expression in infected cells. If a similar process exists in murine DCs, it may be responsible for preventing efficient transduction of mature DCs.

I performed a long-term DC culture in order to determine if transduction or the expression of M11L would have any effects on the DCs up to 13 days following isolation. In my observations, all transductants appeared to persist longer than non-transduced cells. In the total DC populations, I observed a general decline in total culture viability. However, at later time points, the sizes of the transduced cell populations increased relative to the size of the viable CD11c⁺ population. However, these effects appear to be minimal in these experiments as statistical significance was not observed. It is possible, however, that further differences may arise at later time points.

To circumvent problems with direct infection of mature DCs, I administered a previously characterized maturation cocktail. The rationale behind

this was that immature DCs would first be transduced with the viral vectors. The experiment I performed consisted of an initial transduction, followed 24 hours later by administration of the maturation cocktail. Because of the HIV-restrictive nature of TNF- α matured DCs (184), it appears unlikely that a reversal of the order of transduction and cocktail administration would increase EGFP⁺ CD86⁺ cells. Following this, administration of the maturation cocktail would push the transduced immature cells into the mature fraction. As expected, there was a shift in the overall DC population towards a CD86⁺ mature state seen in both transduced and untransduced populations. Interestingly, I observed an increase in EGFP⁺ CD86⁺ cells in the populations transduced with pCCL-EGFP. This was concordant with a slight decrease in the EGFP⁺ CD86⁻ population. Another study by Toscano et al. showed that LPS treatment following lentivirus transduction of DCs resulted in a greater than 4 fold increase in CD86 expression (183). This may in part be explained by the fact that they assessed CD86 within the whole culture rather than specifically those DCs that were transduced. This phenomenon was not observed in cells transduced with pCCL-EGFP-M11L; rather, the proportion of CD86⁻ and CD86⁺ cell populations did not change. Potentially, M11L may be exerting previously unknown effects on DC maturation. Such phenomena have yet to be examined as this is the first study that has attempted to express M11L in dendritic cells. However, it has been observed that pox viruses can inhibit DC maturation (185, 186). In order to determine the effectiveness of M11L inclusion, it will be necessary to determine if it has an

terrenta da Malazza e Mila regio contagi interrentaria con

low to the second of the production of the test we have been a present to

90

additional role in preventing DC maturation, as this has not been previously studied.

As the maturation state of the DCs will dictate its effectiveness in immunotherapy, it is important to determine a method that is suitable to mature or activate a large number of DCs. A recent method makes use of an inducible CD40 system (187). CD40, a TNF family receptor, normally interacts with its cognate ligand, CD40L expressed on CD4⁺ T helper cells. The CD40-CD40L interaction results in increased antigen presentation and costimulatory capacity, as well as the synthesis of cytokines and anti-apoptotic molecules that all serve to enhance DC-mediated activation of CD8⁺ T cells. In 2005, the group of Hanks et al. engineered an inducible CD40 system consisting of the cytoplasmic tail fused to a membrane bound drug binding domain (188). They demonstrated that primary BMDCs transduced with an adenovirus vector encoding the inducible receptor significantly increased levels of polarizing IL-12. Furthermore, use of inducible CD40 in a DC-based vaccine against OVA-peptide resulted in a substance decreased EG.7-OVA tumor size. Co-expression of inducible CD40, M11L, and an immunogenic protein should provide an extremely robust immune response. However, one of the difficulties here would be the number of genes that have to be transferred. As observed in my studies, as well as others, gene transfer of one gene is already difficult. As such, it is still necessary to revise existing gene transfer methods to allow for triple gene synthesis. We define the second and the

Expression of M11L from the IRES may be resulting in levels that are too low to be effective (161). A possible cause for this may be the errors present in the IRES sequence as this may affect IRES functionality. If the sequence variations occur in critical regions of the secondary structure formed by the IRES, loading of the translation initiation factors may be altered, potentially decreasing the level of translation. Based on my observations in HEK293T cells, however, complete IRES function did not appear to be abrogated as expression of M11L was verified in transduced cells. To verify that effective levels of M11L are being produced, M11L transduction can occur in parallel with myxoma virus infection to determine if M11L expression is comparable.

In order to examine this possibility, I have begun to study a second transfer vector system that makes use of two separate promoters oriented in opposite direction (164). Characterization of this system showed increased expression of the second gene. This may translate to an increased expression of M11L. Also, depending on the relative amounts of expression, it may also be possible to reverse the order of the genes encoded within the IRES containing transfer vector. In practice, this would depend on the level of expression required of an immunogenic peptide. In the case of GFP, studies have reported detectable levels of GFP expression when under the control of the EMCV IRES. A third possibility would be to use the foot and mouth disease virus (FMDV) protein 2A (189, 190). The 2A region acts as an intergenic cleavage site. Furthermore, the cleavage event does not require additional proteases, rather it is believed to occur due to conformational strain placed at the site of the 2A sequence during translation. However, when deciding on the method of dual gene expression, it is important to note that overexpression of M11L may also be cytotoxic. As such, it

may be necessary to explore other possible anti-apoptotic genes. Selecting the appropriate method for gene expression is not simply the one that results in the highest level of expression, but rather a fine balance must be obtained.

Two points raised by the transduction of these cells are the migratory capacity of the transduced DCs, as well as their actual persistence within regional lymph nodes. A phenotypic study of lentivirus transduced DCs showed that following transduction and LPS treatment, CCR7 expression increased, making the cells more responsive to lymph node-associated chemokine CCL19, suggesting normal migratory function (183). A separate group transduced DCs with an adenoviral vector expressing both EGFP and a hyperactive Bcl- x_L mutant and assessed both migration and persistence of the transduced DCs within the lymph node (127). They observed higher accumulation of DCs transduced with the Bcl- x_L mutant resulting in prolongation of the duration of DC presence within the lymph node. In agreement with previous studies, they also noted a decline in DC accumulation at the lymph node beginning 2 days after injection.

Once M11L expression is verified and levels of both genes within the transfer vector are optimized, further experiments can be performed to examine migration, persistence, and immunogenicity of the transgenic DCs. Previous research from my laboratory has shown that following footpad injection, PKH-green labeled DCs migrate to popliteal lymph nodes and persist for upwards of 4 days, peaking at day 2 post-injection. A similar schema can be performed using the transduced DCs. In order to separate transduced, non-transduced, and endogeneous DCs, the DC population to be injected can be labeled with PKH

red, prior to injection. I would expect to see results similar to those observed by the group of Yoshikawa *et al.* in 2008; similar migration levels of transduced and untransduced DCs were observed, but with increased persistence within the lymph node in the case of the former population (127). However, different methods of analysis can be performed to overcome the shortcomings of their quantitation techniques. While EGFP is necessary for the initial characterization and analysis of migration and persistence, it will be replaced with gp140 in order to assess immunogenicity of the DC vaccine in BALB/c mice, which exhibit known immune responses to the HIV envelope. Work here has begun as the appropriate pCCL-gp140 lentiviral vector has been generated.

To assess immunogenicity of the virus, it will be possible to use a variety of different proteins. However, due to the anti-apoptotic effects of M11L, the system should be able to accommodate what are normally cytotoxic proteins when overexpressed, notably the HIV *env* gene. The findings from the pHERO system demonstrate that M11L is able to increase immunogenicity of gp140 in the context of a DNA vector vaccine (143). In order to do this, the same schema can be performed as with the migration studies. However, instead of imaging lymph nodes, effector activity of splenic or lymph node T cells against the model epitope can be assessed *ex vivo*.

Summary

In my studies, I have observed the inefficiency of DC transfection using non-viral methods. As such, viral transduction was required in order to generate

94

transgenic DCs on a large enough scale. Consistent with previous findings, transduction of DCs does not appear to greatly affect viability and maturation. However, I have observed an increased propensity for the lentiviral vectors to transduce and exist in the immature DC population. M11L transduction did not appear to influence the relative proportions of mature and immature populations. However, its presence in the vector with the IRES did appear to decrease EGFP expression with respect to MFI and the number of transductants. M11L expression did not appear to have any major impact in viability in the long term culture, and this observation may have resulted from a level of expression too low to be effective. As a result, I have begun studying another bicistronic vector that should permit greater expression as it makes use of another promoter rather than an IRES. Optimization of the bicistronic vector and expression level of M11L will open doors for future studies making use of this DC-based system.

or he sound the antenne is an diske a slightly of the Shake

le cara de la seconda en esta en la deserva de la seconda de la seconda de la seconda de la seconda de la secon

traj en situ la subseta da calendaria indiata en di atas desis da la calendaria.

el de la constante de la presidencia de la constante de la constante de la constante de la constante de la cons Esta constante de la constante de la constante persona a successiva de la constante de la constante de la const Interna constante de la constante de la constante persona a successiva de la constante de la constante de la co

和新闻的问题,我们就是是"新闻"的。我们就是我们的问题。 第二章

ana a Pagasaa minaa wing asa. Eifamalaan see fagamalaa

al popul Ali, Na Frencis Na Stan, et al debiséra Parko Alian († 1908). Avan da esta: Alian Misjer Alian († 1900). A l'Alian seren da Caretra († 2006) da estad. Gran († 1917). A estado da caretra seren plesa Caretra († 1918). Autoropa

Price M. A. Yoshikasa, B. Sasadana, A. C. Prostan, A. S. Sasadana, A. S. Sasadana, A. S. Sasadana, A. S. Sasada

2. 指示的问题中国人主动的方法问题, 意味的可能在这些问题, 所以

a Frank 新安全部 计算机 化化化合物 化化合物 化化合物

11

a to contrarege and thank to the an former of each to a contract the

1. UNAIDS. 2010. 2010 AIDS Epidemic Update.

- Mitsuya, H., K. J. Weinhold, P. A. Furman, M. H. St Clair, S. N. Lehrman, R. C. Gallo, D. Bolognesi, D. W. Barry, and S. Broder. 1985. 3'-Azido-3'deoxythymidine (BW A509U): an antiviral agent that inhibits the infectivity and cytopathic effect of human T-lymphotropic virus type III/lymphadenopathy-associated virus in vitro. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 82:7096-7100.
- Gallo, R. C., S. Z. Salahuddin, M. Popovic, G. M. Shearer, M. Kaplan, B. F. Haynes, T. J. Palker, R. Redfield, J. Oleske, B. Safai, and et al. 1984. Frequent detection and isolation of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and at risk for AIDS. *Science* 224:500-503.
- 4. Barre-Sinoussi, F., J. C. Chermann, F. Rey, M. T. Nugeyre, S. Chamaret, J. Gruest, C. Dauguet, C. Axler-Blin, F. Vezinet-Brun, C. Rouzioux, W. Rozenbaum, and L. Montagnier. 1983. Isolation of a T-lymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). *Science* 220:868-871.
- 5. Frankel, A. D., and J. A. Young. 1998. HIV-1: fifteen proteins and an RNA. *Annu Rev Biochem* 67:1-25.
- 6. Freed, E. O. 1998. HIV-1 gag proteins: diverse functions in the virus life cycle. *Virology* 251:1-15.
- 7. Jones, K. A., and B. M. Peterlin. 1994. Control of RNA initiation and elongation at the HIV-1 promoter. *Annu Rev Biochem* 63:717-743.
- 8. Fischer, U., J. Huber, W. C. Boelens, I. W. Mattaj, and R. Luhrmann. 1995. The HIV-1 Rev activation domain is a nuclear export signal that accesses an export pathway used by specific cellular RNAs. *Cell* 82:475-483.
- 9. Trono, D. 1995. HIV accessory proteins: leading roles for the supporting cast. *Cell* 82:189-192.
- 10. Royce, R. A., A. Sena, W. Cates, Jr., and M. S. Cohen. 1997. Sexual transmission of HIV. *N Engl J Med* 336:1072-1078.
- 11. Watters, J. K., M. J. Estilo, G. L. Clark, and J. Lorvick. 1994. Syringe and needle exchange as HIV/AIDS prevention for injection drug users. *JAMA* 271:115-120.
- 12. Dunn, D. T., M. L. Newell, A. E. Ades, and C. S. Peckham. 1992. Risk of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission through breastfeeding. *Lancet* 340:585-588.
- 13. Newell, M. L. 1998. Mechanisms and timing of mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1. *AIDS* 12:831-837.
- Choe, H., M. Farzan, Y. Sun, N. Sullivan, B. Rollins, P. D. Ponath, L. Wu, C. R. Mackay, G. LaRosa, W. Newman, N. Gerard, C. Gerard, and J. Sodroski. 1996. The beta-chemokine receptors CCR3 and CCR5 facilitate infection by primary HIV-1 isolates. *Cell* 85:1135-1148.
- 15. Patel, M., M. Yanagishita, G. Roderiquez, D. C. Bou-Habib, T. Oravecz, V. C. Hascall, and M. A. Norcross. 1993. Cell-surface heparan sulfate

proteoglycan mediates HIV-1 infection of T-cell lines. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 9:167-174.

- 16. Geijtenbeek, T. B., and Y. van Kooyk. 2003. DC-SIGN: a novel HIV receptor on DCs that mediates HIV-1 transmission. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* 276:31-54.
- 17. Bhat, S., S. L. Spitalnik, F. Gonzalez-Scarano, and D. H. Silberberg. 1991. Galactosyl ceramide or a derivative is an essential component of the neural receptor for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein gp120. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 88:7131-7134.
- 18. Turville, S. G., P. U. Cameron, J. Arthos, K. MacDonald, G. Clark, D. Hart, and A. L. Cunningham. 2001. Bitter-sweet symphony: defining the role of dendritic cell gp120 receptors in HIV infection. *J Clin Virol* 22:229-239.
- 19. Chan, D. C., and P. S. Kim. 1998. HIV entry and its inhibition. *Cell* 93:681-684.
- 20. Daecke, J., O. T. Fackler, M. T. Dittmar, and H. G. Krausslich. 2005. Involvement of clathrin-mediated endocytosis in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 entry. *J Virol* 79:1581-1594.
- 21. Piatak, M., Jr., M. S. Saag, L. C. Yang, S. J. Clark, J. C. Kappes, K. C. Luk, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, and J. D. Lifson. 1993. High levels of HIV-1 in plasma during all stages of infection determined by competitive PCR. *Science* 259:1749-1754.
- Dalod, M., M. Dupuis, J. C. Deschemin, C. Goujard, C. Deveau, L. Meyer, N. Ngo, C. Rouzioux, J. G. Guillet, J. F. Delfraissy, M. Sinet, and A. Venet.
 1999. Weak anti-HIV CD8(+) T-cell effector activity in HIV primary infection. J Clin Invest 104:1431-1439.
- 23. Gras, L., A. M. Kesselring, J. T. Griffin, A. I. van Sighem, C. Fraser, A. C. Ghani, F. Miedema, P. Reiss, J. M. Lange, and F. de Wolf. 2007. CD4 cell counts of 800 cells/mm3 or greater after 7 years of highly active antiretroviral therapy are feasible in most patients starting with 350 cells/mm3 or greater. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 45:183-192.
- 24. Dean, M., M. Carrington, C. Winkler, G. A. Huttley, M. W. Smith, R. Allikmets, J. J. Goedert, S. P. Buchbinder, E. Vittinghoff, E. Gomperts, S. Donfield, D. Vlahov, R. Kaslow, A. Saah, C. Rinaldo, R. Detels, and S. J. O'Brien. 1996. Genetic restriction of HIV-1 infection and progression to AIDS by a deletion allele of the CKR5 structural gene. Hemophilia Growth and Development Study, Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study, Multicenter Hemophilia Cohort Study, San Francisco City Cohort, ALIVE Study. Science 273:1856-1862.
- 25. Gaschen, B., J. Taylor, K. Yusim, B. Foley, F. Gao, D. Lang, V. Novitsky, B. Haynes, B. H. Hahn, T. Bhattacharya, and B. Korber. 2002. Diversity considerations in HIV-1 vaccine selection. *Science* 296:2354-2360.
- 26. Preston, B. D., B. J. Poiesz, and L. A. Loeb. 1988. Fidelity of HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. *Science* 242:1168-1171.
- 27. Preston, B. D., and J. P. Dougherty. 1996. Mechanisms of retroviral mutation. *Trends Microbiol* 4:16-21.

- Wei, X., S. K. Ghosh, M. E. Taylor, V. A. Johnson, E. A. Emini, P. Deutsch, J. D. Lifson, S. Bonhoeffer, M. A. Nowak, B. H. Hahn, and et al. 1995. Viral dynamics in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Nature* 373:117-122.
- 29. Ho, D. D., A. U. Neumann, A. S. Perelson, W. Chen, J. M. Leonard, and M. Markowitz. 1995. Rapid turnover of plasma virions and CD4 lymphocytes in HIV-1 infection. *Nature* 373:123-126.
- 30. Hu, W. S., and H. M. Temin. 1990. Retroviral recombination and reverse transcription. *Science* 250:1227-1233.
- 31. Burke, D. S. 1997. Recombination in HIV: an important viral evolutionary strategy. *Emerg Infect Dis* 3:253-259.
- 32. Walker, B. D., and B. T. Korber. 2001. Immune control of HIV: the obstacles of HLA and viral diversity. *Nat Immunol* 2:473-475.
- 33. Miller, C. J., M. Genesca, K. Abel, D. Montefiori, D. Forthal, K. Bost, J. Li, D. Favre, and J. M. McCune. 2007. Antiviral antibodies are necessary for
 - control of simian immunodeficiency virus replication. *J Virol* 81:5024-5035.
- 34. Saez-Cirion, A., C. Lacabaratz, O. Lambotte, P. Versmisse, A. Urrutia, F. Boufassa, F. Barre-Sinoussi, J. F. Delfraissy, M. Sinet, G. Pancino, and A. Venet. 2007. HIV controllers exhibit potent CD8 T cell capacity to suppress HIV infection ex vivo and peculiar cytotoxic T lymphocyte activation phenotype. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104:6776-6781.
- 35. Alter, G., and M. Altfeld. 2009. NK cells in HIV-1 infection: evidence for their role in the control of HIV-1 infection. *J Intern Med* 265:29-42.
- 36. Coleman, C. M., and L. Wu. 2009. HIV interactions with monocytes and dendritic cells: viral latency and reservoirs. *Retrovirology* 6:51.
- 37. Borrow, P., H. Lewicki, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, and M. B. Oldstone. 1994. Virus-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J Virol* 68:6103-6110.
- Pantaleo, G., J. F. Demarest, H. Soudeyns, C. Graziosi, F. Denis, J. W. Adelsberger, P. Borrow, M. S. Saag, G. M. Shaw, R. P. Sekaly, and et al. 1994. Major expansion of CD8+ T cells with a predominant V beta usage during the primary immune response to HIV. *Nature* 370:463-467.
- Jin, X., D. E. Bauer, S. E. Tuttleton, S. Lewin, A. Gettie, J. Blanchard, C.
 E. Irwin, J. T. Safrit, J. Mittler, L. Weinberger, L. G. Kostrikis, L. Zhang, A.
 S. Perelson, and D. D. Ho. 1999. Dramatic rise in plasma viremia after
 CD8(+) T cell depletion in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected
 macagues. *J Exp Med* 189:991-998.
- Schmitz, J. E., M. J. Kuroda, S. Santra, V. G. Sasseville, M. A. Simon, M. A. Lifton, P. Racz, K. Tenner-Racz, M. Dalesandro, B. J. Scallon, J. Ghrayeb, M. A. Forman, D. C. Montefiori, E. P. Rieber, N. L. Letvin, and K. A. Reimann. 1999. Control of viremia in simian immunodeficiency virus infection by CD8+ lymphocytes. *Science* 283:857-860.
- 41. Migueles, S. A., A. C. Laborico, W. L. Shupert, M. S. Sabbaghian, R. Rabin, C. W. Hallahan, D. Van Baarle, S. Kostense, F. Miedema, M. McLaughlin, L. Ehler, J. Metcalf, S. Liu, and M. Connors. 2002. HIV-
specific CD8+ T cell proliferation is coupled to perforin expression and is maintained in nonprogressors. *Nat Immunol* 3:1061-1068.

- 42. Bailey, J. R., K. G. Lassen, H. C. Yang, T. C. Quinn, S. C. Ray, J. N. Blankson, and R. F. Siliciano. 2006. Neutralizing antibodies do not mediate suppression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in elite suppressors or selection of plasma virus variants in patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy. *J Virol* 80:4758-4770.
- 43. Richman, D. D., T. Wrin, S. J. Little, and C. J. Petropoulos. 2003. Rapid evolution of the neutralizing antibody response to HIV type 1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100:4144-4149.
- 44. Moore, J. P., Y. Cao, L. Qing, Q. J. Sattentau, J. Pyati, R. Koduri, J. Robinson, C. F. Barbas, 3rd, D. R. Burton, and D. D. Ho. 1995. Primary isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 are relatively resistant to neutralization by monoclonal antibodies to gp120, and their neutralization is not predicted by studies with monomeric gp120. *J Virol* 69:101-109.
- 45. Moir, S., and A. S. Fauci. 2009. B cells in HIV infection and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* 9:235-245.
- 46. Walker, L. M., S. K. Phogat, P. Y. Chan-Hui, D. Wagner, P. Phung, J. L. Goss, T. Wrin, M. D. Simek, S. Fling, J. L. Mitcham, J. K. Lehrman, F. H. Priddy, O. A. Olsen, S. M. Frey, P. W. Hammond, S. Kaminsky, T. Zamb, M. Moyle, W. C. Koff, P. Poignard, and D. R. Burton. 2009. Broad and potent neutralizing antibodies from an African donor reveal a new HIV-1 vaccine target. *Science* 326:285-289.
- Simek, M. D., W. Rida, F. H. Priddy, P. Pung, E. Carrow, D. S. Laufer, J. K. Lehrman, M. Boaz, T. Tarragona-Fiol, G. Miiro, J. Birungi, A. Pozniak, D. A. McPhee, O. Manigart, E. Karita, A. Inwoley, W. Jaoko, J. Dehovitz, L. G. Bekker, P. Pitisuttithum, R. Paris, L. M. Walker, P. Poignard, T. Wrin, P. E. Fast, D. R. Burton, and W. C. Koff. 2009. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 elite neutralizers: individuals with broad and potent neutralizing activity identified by using a high-throughput neutralization assay together with an analytical selection algorithm. *J Virol* 83:7337-7348.
- 48. Cihlar, T., and A. S. Ray. 2010. Nucleoside and nucleotide HIV reverse transcriptase inhibitors: 25 years after zidovudine. *Antiviral Res* 85:39-58.
- 49. de Bethune, M. P. 2010. Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs), their discovery, development, and use in the treatment of HIV-1 infection: a review of the last 20 years (1989-2009). *Antiviral Res* 85:75-90.
- 50. Fernandez-Montero, J. V., P. Barreiro, and V. Soriano. 2009. HIV protease inhibitors: recent clinical trials and recommendations on use. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* 10:1615-1629.
- 51. Qadir, M. I., and S. A. Malik. HIV fusion inhibitors. *Rev Med Virol* 20:23-33.
- 52. Schafer, J. J., and K. E. Squires. 2010. Integrase inhibitors: a novel class of antiretroviral agents. *Ann Pharmacother* 44:145-156.

- Davey, R. T., Jr., N. Bhat, C. Yoder, T. W. Chun, J. A. Metcalf, R. Dewar, V. Natarajan, R. A. Lempicki, J. W. Adelsberger, K. D. Miller, J. A. Kovacs, M. A. Polis, R. E. Walker, J. Falloon, H. Masur, D. Gee, M. Baseler, D. S. Dimitrov, A. S. Fauci, and H. C. Lane. 1999. HIV-1 and T cell dynamics after interruption of highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) in patients with a history of sustained viral suppression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96:15109-15114.
- 54. Chun, T. W., D. Engel, M. M. Berrey, T. Shea, L. Corey, and A. S. Fauci. 1998. Early establishment of a pool of latently infected, resting CD4(+) T cells during primary HIV-1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95:8869-8873.
- 55. Igarashi, T., C. R. Brown, Y. Endo, A. Buckler-White, R. Plishka, N. Bischofberger, V. Hirsch, and M. A. Martin. 2001. Macrophage are the principal reservoir and sustain high virus loads in rhesus macaques after the depletion of CD4+ T cells by a highly pathogenic simian immunodeficiency virus/HIV type 1 chimera (SHIV): Implications for HIV-1 infections of humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98:658-663.
- 56. Wu, L., and V. N. KewalRamani. 2006. Dendritic-cell interactions with HIV: infection and viral dissemination. *Nat Rev Immunol* 6:859-868.
- 57. Alexaki, A., and B. Wigdahl. 2008. HIV-1 infection of bone marrow hematopoietic progenitor cells and their role in trafficking and viral dissemination. *PLoS Pathog* 4:e1000215.
- Hammer, S. M., J. J. Eron, Jr., P. Reiss, R. T. Schooley, M. A. Thompson, S. Walmsley, P. Cahn, M. A. Fischl, J. M. Gatell, M. S. Hirsch, D. M. Jacobsen, J. S. Montaner, D. D. Richman, P. G. Yeni, and P. A. Volberding. 2008. Antiretroviral treatment of adult HIV infection: 2008 recommendations of the International AIDS Society-USA panel. *JAMA* 300:555-570.
- 59. Murphy, D. A., M. Sarr, S. J. Durako, A. B. Moscicki, C. M. Wilson, and L. R. Muenz. 2003. Barriers to HAART adherence among human immunodeficiency virus-infected adolescents. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 157:249-255.
- 60. Mills, E. J., J. B. Nachega, D. R. Bangsberg, S. Singh, B. Rachlis, P. Wu, K. Wilson, I. Buchan, C. J. Gill, and C. Cooper. 2006. Adherence to HAART: a systematic review of developed and developing nation patient-reported barriers and facilitators. *PLoS Med* 3:e438.
- 61. Starace, F., A. Ammassari, M. P. Trotta, R. Murri, P. De Longis, C. Izzo, A. Scalzini, A. d'Arminio Monforte, A. W. Wu, and A. Antinori. 2002. Depression is a risk factor for suboptimal adherence to highly active antiretroviral therapy. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 31 Suppl 3:S136-139.
- 62. Daniel, M. D., F. Kirchhoff, S. C. Czajak, P. K. Sehgal, and R. C. Desrosiers. 1992. Protective effects of a live attenuated SIV vaccine with a deletion in the nef gene. *Science* 258:1938-1941.
- Baba, T. W., Y. S. Jeong, D. Pennick, R. Bronson, M. F. Greene, and R.
 M. Ruprecht. 1995. Pathogenicity of live, attenuated SIV after mucosal infection of neonatal macaques. *Science* 267:1820-1825.

- Baba, T. W., V. Liska, A. H. Khimani, N. B. Ray, P. J. Dailey, D. Penninck, R. Bronson, M. F. Greene, H. M. McClure, L. N. Martin, and R. M. Ruprecht. 1999. Live attenuated, multiply deleted simian immunodeficiency virus causes AIDS in infant and adult macaques. *Nat Med* 5:194-203.
- 65. Geeraedts, F., L. Bungener, J. Pool, W. ter Veer, J. Wilschut, and A. Huckriede. 2008. Whole inactivated virus influenza vaccine is superior to subunit vaccine in inducing immune responses and secretion of proinflammatory cytokines by DCs. *Influenza Other Respi Viruses* 2:41-51.
- 66. Murphey-Corb, M., L. N. Martin, B. Davison-Fairburn, R. C. Montelaro, M. Miller, M. West, S. Ohkawa, G. B. Baskin, J. Y. Zhang, S. D. Putney, and et al. 1989. A formalin-inactivated whole SIV vaccine confers protection in macaques. *Science* 246:1293-1297.
- 67. Bonnet, M. C., and A. Dutta. 2008. World wide experience with inactivated poliovirus vaccine. *Vaccine* 26:4978-4983.
- 68. Girard, M. P., S. K. Osmanov, and M. P. Kieny. 2006. A review of vaccine research and development: the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). *Vaccine* 24:4062-4081.
- 69. Lifson, J. D., J. L. Rossio, M. Piatak, Jr., J. Bess, Jr., E. Chertova, D. K. Schneider, V. J. Coalter, B. Poore, R. F. Kiser, R. J. Imming, A. J. Scarzello, L. E. Henderson, W. G. Alvord, V. M. Hirsch, R. E. Benveniste, and L. O. Arthur. 2004. Evaluation of the safety, immunogenicity, and protective efficacy of whole inactivated simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) vaccines with conformationally and functionally intact envelope glycoproteins. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 20:772-787.
- Arthur, L. O., J. W. Bess, Jr., E. N. Chertova, J. L. Rossio, M. T. Esser, R. E. Benveniste, L. E. Henderson, and J. D. Lifson. 1998. Chemical inactivation of retroviral infectivity by targeting nucleocapsid protein zinc fingers: a candidate SIV vaccine. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 14 Suppl 3:S311-319.
- 71. Rappuoli, R. 2007. Bridging the knowledge gaps in vaccine design. *Nat Biotechnol* 25:1361-1366.
- 72. Mascola, J. R., S. W. Snyder, O. S. Weislow, S. M. Belay, R. B. Belshe, D. H. Schwartz, M. L. Clements, R. Dolin, B. S. Graham, G. J. Gorse, M. C. Keefer, M. J. McElrath, M. C. Walker, K. F. Wagner, J. G. McNeil, F. E. McCutchan, and D. S. Burke. 1996. Immunization with envelope subunit vaccine products elicits neutralizing antibodies against laboratory-adapted but not primary isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. The National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases AIDS Vaccine Evaluation Group. *J Infect Dis* 173:340-348.
- 73. Jeffs, S. A., S. Goriup, B. Kebble, D. Crane, B. Bolgiano, Q. Sattentau, S. Jones, and H. Holmes. 2004. Expression and characterisation of recombinant oligomeric envelope glycoproteins derived from primary isolates of HIV-1. *Vaccine* 22:1032-1046.
- 74. Lian, Y., I. Srivastava, V. R. Gomez-Roman, J. Zur Megede, Y. Sun, E. Kan, S. Hilt, S. Engelbrecht, S. Himathongkham, P. A. Luciw, G. Otten, J.

B. Ulmer, J. J. Donnelly, D. Rabussay, D. Montefiori, E. J. van Rensburg, and S. W. Barnett. 2005. Evaluation of envelope vaccines derived from the South African subtype C human immunodeficiency virus type 1 TV1 strain. *J Virol* 79:13338-13349.

- 75. Flynn, N. M., D. N. Forthal, C. D. Harro, F. N. Judson, K. H. Mayer, and M. F. Para. 2005. Placebo-controlled phase 3 trial of a recombinant glycoprotein 120 vaccine to prevent HIV-1 infection. *J Infect Dis* 191:654-665.
- 76. Pitisuttithum, P., P. Gilbert, M. Gurwith, W. Heyward, M. Martin, F. van Griensven, D. Hu, J. W. Tappero, and K. Choopanya. 2006. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled efficacy trial of a bivalent recombinant glycoprotein 120 HIV-1 vaccine among injection drug users in Bangkok, Thailand. J Infect Dis 194:1661-1671.
- Chakrabarti, B. K., X. Ling, Z. Y. Yang, D. C. Montefiori, A. Panet, W. P. Kong, B. Welcher, M. K. Louder, J. R. Mascola, and G. J. Nabel. 2005.
 Expanded breadth of virus neutralization after immunization with a multiclade envelope HIV vaccine candidate. *Vaccine* 23:3434-3445.
- 78. Tang, D. C., M. DeVit, and S. A. Johnston. 1992. Genetic immunization is a simple method for eliciting an immune response. *Nature* 356:152-154.
- 79. Harari, A., P. A. Bart, W. Stohr, G. Tapia, M. Garcia, E. Medjitna-Rais, S. Burnet, C. Cellerai, O. Erlwein, T. Barber, C. Moog, P. Liljestrom, R. Wagner, H. Wolf, J. P. Kraehenbuhl, M. Esteban, J. Heeney, M. J. Frachette, J. Tartaglia, S. McCormack, A. Babiker, J. Weber, and G. Pantaleo. 2008. An HIV-1 clade C DNA prime, NYVAC boost vaccine regimen induces reliable, polyfunctional, and long-lasting T cell responses. *J Exp Med* 205:63-77.
- Priddy, F. H., D. Brown, J. Kublin, K. Monahan, D. P. Wright, J. Lalezari, S. Santiago, M. Marmor, M. Lally, R. M. Novak, S. J. Brown, P. Kulkarni, S. A. Dubey, L. S. Kierstead, D. R. Casimiro, R. Mogg, M. J. DiNubile, J. W. Shiver, R. Y. Leavitt, M. N. Robertson, D. V. Mehrotra, and E. Quirk. 2008. Safety and immunogenicity of a replication-incompetent adenovirus type 5 HIV-1 clade B gag/pol/nef vaccine in healthy adults. *Clin Infect Dis* 46:1769-1781.
- Shiver, J. W., T. M. Fu, L. Chen, D. R. Casimiro, M. E. Davies, R. K. Evans, Z. Q. Zhang, A. J. Simon, W. L. Trigona, S. A. Dubey, L. Huang, V. A. Harris, R. S. Long, X. Liang, L. Handt, W. A. Schleif, L. Zhu, D. C. Freed, N. V. Persaud, L. Guan, K. S. Punt, A. Tang, M. Chen, K. A. Wilson, K. B. Collins, G. J. Heidecker, V. R. Fernandez, H. C. Perry, J. G. Joyce, K. M. Grimm, J. C. Cook, P. M. Keller, D. S. Kresock, H. Mach, R. D. Troutman, L. A. Isopi, D. M. Williams, Z. Xu, K. E. Bohannon, D. B. Volkin, D. C. Montefiori, A. Miura, G. R. Krivulka, M. A. Lifton, M. J. Kuroda, J. E. Schmitz, N. L. Letvin, M. J. Caulfield, A. J. Bett, R. Youil, D. C. Kaslow, and E. A. Emini. 2002. Replication-incompetent adenoviral vaccine vector elicits effective anti-immunodeficiency-virus immunity. *Nature* 415:331-335.

- 82. Hanke, T. 2008. STEP trial and HIV-1 vaccines inducing T-cell responses. *Expert Rev Vaccines* 7:303-309.
- 83. Sekaly, R. P. 2008. The failed HIV Merck vaccine study: a step back or a launching point for future vaccine development? *J Exp Med* 205:7-12.
- 84. Shortman, K., and Y. J. Liu. 2002. Mouse and human dendritic cell subtypes. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2:151-161.
- 85. Steinman, R. M. 2007. Dendritic cells: understanding immunogenicity. *Eur J Immunol* 37 Suppl 1:S53-60.
- 86. Steinman, R. M. 1991. The dendritic cell system and its role in immunogenicity. *Annu Rev Immunol* 9:271-296.
- 87. Banchereau, J., F. Briere, C. Caux, J. Davoust, S. Lebecque, Y. J. Liu, B.
- Pulendran, and K. Palucka. 2000. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 18:767-811.
- 88. Iwasaki, A., and R. Medzhitov. 2004. Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses. *Nat Immunol* 5:987-995.
- 89. Forster, R., A. Schubel, D. Breitfeld, E. Kremmer, I. Renner-Muller, E. Wolf, and M. Lipp. 1999. CCR7 coordinates the primary immune response by establishing functional microenvironments in secondary lymphoid organs. *Cell* 99:23-33.
- 90. Sporri, R., and C. Reis e Sousa. 2005. Inflammatory mediators are insufficient for full dendritic cell activation and promote expansion of CD4+ T cell populations lacking helper function. *Nat Immunol* 6:163-170.
- 91. Hou, B., B. Reizis, and A. L. DeFranco. 2008. Toll-like receptors activate innate and adaptive immunity by using dendritic cell-intrinsic and -extrinsic mechanisms. *Immunity* 29:272-282.
- 92. Rimoldi, M., M. Chieppa, V. Salucci, F. Avogadri, A. Sonzogni, G. M. Sampietro, A. Nespoli, G. Viale, P. Allavena, and M. Rescigno. 2005. Intestinal immune homeostasis is regulated by the crosstalk between epithelial cells and dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol* 6:507-514.
- 93. Hsieh, C. S., S. E. Macatonia, C. S. Tripp, S. F. Wolf, A. O'Garra, and K.
 M. Murphy. 1993. Development of TH1 CD4+ T cells through IL-12 produced by Listeria-induced macrophages. *Science* 260:547-549.
- 94. Swain, S. L., A. D. Weinberg, M. English, and G. Huston. 1990. IL-4 directs the development of Th2-like helper effectors. *J Immunol* 145:3796-3806.
- 95. Bertagnolli, M. M., B. Y. Lin, D. Young, and S. H. Herrmann. 1992. IL-12 augments antigen-dependent proliferation of activated T lymphocytes. *J Immunol* 149:3778-3783.
- 96. Mosmann, T. R., and R. L. Coffman. 1989. TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. *Annu Rev Immunol* 7:145-173.
- 97. Reis e Sousa, C. 2004. Toll-like receptors and dendritic cells: for whom the bug tolls. *Semin Immunol* 16:27-34.
- 98. Curtsinger, J. M., M. Y. Gerner, D. C. Lins, and M. F. Mescher. 2007. Signal 3 availability limits the CD8 T cell response to a solid tumor. *J Immunol* 178:6752-6760.

- 99. Curtsinger, J. M., J. O. Valenzuela, P. Agarwal, D. Lins, and M. F. Mescher. 2005. Type I IFNs provide a third signal to CD8 T cells to stimulate clonal expansion and differentiation. *J Immunol* 174:4465-4469.
- 100. Curtsinger, J. M., D. C. Lins, and M. F. Mescher. 2003. Signal 3 determines tolerance versus full activation of naive CD8 T cells: dissociating proliferation and development of effector function. *J Exp Med* 197:1141-1151.
- 101. Curtsinger, J. M., C. S. Schmidt, A. Mondino, D. C. Lins, R. M. Kedl, M. K. Jenkins, and M. F. Mescher. 1999. Inflammatory cytokines provide a third signal for activation of naive CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol* 162:3256-3262.
- 102. Titti, F., A. Cafaro, F. Ferrantelli, A. Tripiciano, S. Moretti, A. Caputo, R. Gavioli, F. Ensoli, M. Robert-Guroff, S. Barnett, and B. Ensoli. 2007. Problems and emerging approaches in HIV/AIDS vaccine development. *Expert Opin Emerg Drugs* 12:23-48.
- 103. Guermonprez, P., J. Valladeau, L. Zitvogel, C. Thery, and S. Amigorena. 2002. Antigen presentation and T cell stimulation by dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 20:621-667.
- 104. Matzinger, P. 1994. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. *Annu Rev Immunol* 12:991-1045.
- Adema, G. J., F. Hartgers, R. Verstraten, E. de Vries, G. Marland, S. Menon, J. Foster, Y. Xu, P. Nooyen, T. McClanahan, K. B. Bacon, and C. G. Figdor. 1997. A dendritic-cell-derived C-C chemokine that preferentially attracts naive T cells. *Nature* 387:713-717.
- 106. Xiang, M., C. Eisenbach, C. M. Lupu, E. Ernst, W. Stremmel, and J. Encke. 2006. Induction of antigen-specific immune responses in vivo after vaccination with dendritic cells transduced with adenoviral vectors encoding hepatitis C virus NS3. *Viral Immunol* 19:210-219.
- 107. Colino, J., Y. Shen, and C. M. Snapper. 2002. Dendritic cells pulsed with intact Streptococcus pneumoniae elicit both protein- and polysaccharide-specific immunoglobulin isotype responses in vivo through distinct mechanisms. *J Exp Med* 195:1-13.
- 108. Ueno, H., N. Schmitt, A. K. Palucka, and J. Banchereau. 2010. Dendritic cells and humoral immunity in humans. *Immunol Cell Biol* 88:376-380.
- 109. Connolly, N. C., B. A. Colleton, and C. R. Rinaldo. 2007. Treating HIV-1 infection with dendritic cells. *Curr Opin Mol Ther* 9:353-363.
- Romani, N., S. Gruner, D. Brang, E. Kampgen, A. Lenz, B. Trockenbacher, G. Konwalinka, P. O. Fritsch, R. M. Steinman, and G. Schuler. 1994. Proliferating dendritic cell progenitors in human blood. J Exp Med 180:83-93.
- 111. Nicolette, C. A., D. Healey, I. Tcherepanova, P. Whelton, T. Monesmith, L. Coombs, L. H. Finke, T. Whiteside, and F. Miesowicz. 2007. Dendritic cells for active immunotherapy: optimizing design and manufacture in order to develop commercially and clinically viable products. *Vaccine* 25 Suppl 2:B47-60.

- 112. Caux, C., C. Dezutter-Dambuyant, D. Schmitt, and J. Banchereau. 1992. GM-CSF and TNF-alpha cooperate in the generation of dendritic Langerhans cells. *Nature* 360:258-261.
- 113. Caux, C., B. Vanbervliet, C. Massacrier, C. Dezutter-Dambuyant, B. de Saint-Vis, C. Jacquet, K. Yoneda, S. Imamura, D. Schmitt, and J. Banchereau. 1996. CD34+ hematopoietic progenitors from human cord blood differentiate along two independent dendritic cell pathways in response to GM-CSF+TNF alpha. J Exp Med 184:695-706.
- 114. Rinaldo, C. R. 2009. Dendritic cell-based human immunodeficiency virus vaccine. *J Intern Med* 265:138-158.
- 115. Hu, J., C. J. Miller, U. O'Doherty, P. A. Marx, and M. Pope. 1999. The dendritic cell-T cell milieu of the lymphoid tissue of the tonsil provides a locale in which SIV can reside and propagate at chronic stages of infection. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 15:1305-1314.
- 116. Hu, J., M. B. Gardner, and C. J. Miller. 2000. Simian immunodeficiency virus rapidly penetrates the cervicovaginal mucosa after intravaginal inoculation and infects intraepithelial dendritic cells. *J Virol* 74:6087-6095.
- 117. Tisch, R. Immunogenic versus tolerogenic dendritic cells: a matter of maturation. *Int Rev Immunol* 29:111-118.
- 118. Schreibelt, G., D. Benitez-Ribas, D. Schuurhuis, A. J. Lambeck, M. van Hout-Kuijer, N. Schaft, C. J. Punt, C. G. Figdor, G. J. Adema, and I. J. de Vries. Commonly used prophylactic vaccines as an alternative for synthetically produced TLR ligands to mature monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Blood*.
- 119. Schuurhuis, D. H., W. J. Lesterhuis, M. Kramer, M. G. Looman, M. van Hout-Kuijer, G. Schreibelt, A. C. Boullart, E. H. Aarntzen, D. Benitez-Ribas, C. G. Figdor, C. J. Punt, I. J. de Vries, and G. J. Adema. 2009. Polyinosinic polycytidylic acid prevents efficient antigen expression after mRNA electroporation of clinical grade dendritic cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 58:1109-1115.
- 120. Kramer, M., B. M. Schulte, L. W. Toonen, P. M. Barral, P. B. Fisher, K. H. Lanke, J. M. Galama, F. J. van Kuppeveld, and G. J. Adema. 2008. Phagocytosis of picornavirus-infected cells induces an RNA-dependent antiviral state in human dendritic cells. *J Virol* 82:2930-2937.
- 121. Muthuswamy, R., J. Mueller-Berghaus, U. Haberkorn, T. A. Reinhart, D. Schadendorf, and P. Kalinski. 2010. PGE2 transiently enhances DC expression of CCR7 but inhibits the ability of DCs to produce CCL19 and attract naive T cells. *Blood* 116:1454-1459.
- 122. Kundu, S. K., E. Engleman, C. Benike, M. H. Shapero, M. Dupuis, W. C. van Schooten, M. Eibl, and T. C. Merigan. 1998. A pilot clinical trial of HIV antigen-pulsed allogeneic and autologous dendritic cell therapy in HIV-infected patients. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 14:551-560.
- 123. Lu, W., L. C. Arraes, W. T. Ferreira, and J. M. Andrieu. 2004. Therapeutic dendritic-cell vaccine for chronic HIV-1 infection. *Nat Med* 10:1359-1365.

为"这些情况。"他们,我们就是有了这些情况。 第二章

- 124. Hermans, I. F., D. S. Ritchie, J. Yang, J. M. Roberts, and F. Ronchese. 2000. CD8+ T cell-dependent elimination of dendritic cells in vivo limits the induction of antitumor immunity. *J Immunol* 164:3095-3101.
- Liu, K., T. Iyoda, M. Saternus, Y. Kimura, K. Inaba, and R. M. Steinman.
 2002. Immune tolerance after delivery of dying cells to dendritic cells in situ. *J Exp Med* 196:1091-1097.
- 126. Kamath, A. T., S. Henri, F. Battye, D. F. Tough, and K. Shortman. 2002. Developmental kinetics and lifespan of dendritic cells in mouse lymphoid organs. *Blood* 100:1734-1741.
- 127. Yoshikawa, T., T. Niwa, H. Mizuguchi, N. Okada, and S. Nakagawa. 2008. Engineering of highly immunogenic long-lived DC vaccines by antiapoptotic protein gene transfer to enhance cancer vaccine potency. *Gene Ther* 15:1321-1329.
- 128. Kim, T. W., C. F. Hung, M. Zheng, D. A. Boyd, L. He, S. I. Pai, and T. C. Wu. 2004. A DNA vaccine co-expressing antigen and an anti-apoptotic molecule further enhances the antigen-specific CD8+ T-cell immune response. *J Biomed Sci* 11:493-499.
- 129. Kim, J. H., T. H. Kang, K. H. Noh, H. C. Bae, S. H. Kim, Y. D. Yoo, S. Y. Seong, and T. W. Kim. 2009. Enhancement of dendritic cell-based vaccine potency by anti-apoptotic siRNAs targeting key pro-apoptotic proteins in cytotoxic CD8(+) T cell-mediated cell death. *Immunol Lett* 122:58-67.
- 130. Kang, T. H., J. H. Lee, K. H. Noh, H. D. Han, B. C. Shin, E. Y. Choi, S. Peng, C. F. Hung, T. C. Wu, and T. W. Kim. 2007. Enhancing dendritic cell vaccine potency by combining a BAK/BAX siRNA-mediated antiapoptotic strategy to prolong dendritic cell life with an intracellular strategy to target antigen to lysosomal compartments. *Int J Cancer* 120:1696-1703.
- 131. Kim, T. W., C. F. Hung, M. Ling, J. Juang, L. He, J. M. Hardwick, S. Kumar, and T. C. Wu. 2003. Enhancing DNA vaccine potency by coadministration of DNA encoding antiapoptotic proteins. *J Clin Invest* 112:109-117.
- 132. Schott, A. F., I. J. Apel, G. Nunez, and M. F. Clarke. 1995. Bcl-XL protects cancer cells from p53-mediated apoptosis. *Oncogene* 11:1389-1394.
- 133. Korsmeyer, S. J. 1992. Bcl-2 initiates a new category of oncogenes: regulators of cell death. *Blood* 80:879-886.
- Opgenorth, A., K. Graham, N. Nation, D. Strayer, and G. McFadden.
 1992. Deletion analysis of two tandemly arranged virulence genes in myxoma virus, M11L and myxoma growth factor. *J Virol* 66:4720-4731.
- 135. Everett, H., M. Barry, S. F. Lee, X. Sun, K. Graham, J. Stone, R. C. Bleackley, and G. McFadden. 2000. M11L: a novel mitochondria-localized protein of myxoma virus that blocks apoptosis of infected leukocytes. J Exp Med 191:1487-1498.
- 136. Newmeyer, D. D., and S. Ferguson-Miller. 2003. Mitochondria: releasing power for life and unleashing the machineries of death. *Cell* 112:481-490.
- 137. Crompton, M. 1999. The mitochondrial permeability transition pore and its role in cell death. *Biochem J* 341 (Pt 2):233-249.

- 138. Narita, M., S. Shimizu, T. Ito, T. Chittenden, R. J. Lutz, H. Matsuda, and Y. Tsujimoto. 1998. Bax interacts with the permeability transition pore to induce permeability transition and cytochrome c release in isolated mitochondria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95:14681-14686.
- 139. Su, J., G. Wang, J. W. Barrett, T. S. Irvine, X. Gao, and G. McFadden. 2006. Myxoma virus M11L blocks apoptosis through inhibition of conformational activation of Bax at the mitochondria. *J Virol* 80:1140-1151.
- 140. Wang, G., J. W. Barrett, S. H. Nazarian, H. Everett, X. Gao, C. Bleackley, K. Colwill, M. F. Moran, and G. McFadden. 2004. Myxoma virus M11L prevents apoptosis through constitutive interaction with Bak. *J Virol* 78:7097-7111.
- 141. Everett, H., M. Barry, X. Sun, S. F. Lee, C. Frantz, L. G. Berthiaume, G. McFadden, and R. C. Bleackley. 2002. The myxoma poxvirus protein, M11L, prevents apoptosis by direct interaction with the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *J Exp Med* 196:1127-1139.
- 142. Sunila, I., M. Vaccarezza, G. Pantaleo, A. S. Fauci, and J. M. Orenstein. 1997. gp120 is present on the plasma membrane of apoptotic CD4 cells prepared from lymph nodes of HIV-1-infected individuals: an immunoelectron microscopic study. *AIDS* 11:27-32.
- 143. Su, J., C. Willert, L. Comanita, A. Peters, P. A. Gilbert, C. Strathdee, P. J. O'Connell, G. D. McFadden, and G. A. Dekaban. 2008. Inclusion of the viral anti-apoptotic molecule M11L in DNA vaccine vectors enhances HIV Env-specific T cell-mediated immunity. *Virology* 375:48-58.
- 144. Xu, Y., and F. C. Szoka, Jr. 1996. Mechanism of DNA release from cationic liposome/DNA complexes used in cell transfection. *Biochemistry* 35:5616-5623.
- 145. Tan, P. H., S. C. Beutelspacher, Y. H. Wang, M. O. McClure, M. A. Ritter, G. Lombardi, and A. J. George. 2005. Immunolipoplexes: an efficient, nonviral alternative for transfection of human dendritic cells with potential for clinical vaccination. *Mol Ther* 11:790-800.
- 146. De Smedt, S. C., J. Demeester, and W. E. Hennink. 2000. Cationic polymer based gene delivery systems. *Pharm Res* 17:113-126.
- 147. Akinc, A., M. Thomas, A. M. Klibanov, and R. Langer. 2005. Exploring polyethylenimine-mediated DNA transfection and the proton sponge hypothesis. *J Gene Med* 7:657-663.
- 148. Jilek, S., H. Zurkaulen, J. Pavlovic, H. P. Merkle, and E. Walter. 2004. Transfection of a mouse dendritic cell line by plasmid DNA-loaded PLGA microparticles in vitro. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm* 58:491-499.
- 149. Martinet, W., D. M. Schrijvers, and M. M. Kockx. 2003. Nucleofection as an efficient nonviral transfection method for human monocytic cells. *Biotechnol Lett* 25:1025-1029.
- 150. Landi, A., L. A. Babiuk, and S. van Drunen Littel-van den Hurk. 2007. High transfection efficiency, gene expression, and viability of monocyte-derived human dendritic cells after nonviral gene transfer. *J Leukoc Biol* 82:849-860.

- 151. Hermiston, T. 2000. Gene delivery from replication-selective viruses: arming guided missiles in the war against cancer. *J Clin Invest* 105:1169-1172.
- 152. Naldini, L., U. Blomer, P. Gallay, D. Ory, R. Mulligan, F. H. Gage, I. M. Verma, and D. Trono. 1996. In vivo gene delivery and stable transduction of nondividing cells by a lentiviral vector. *Science* 272:263-267.
- 153. Vigna, E., and L. Naldini. 2000. Lentiviral vectors: excellent tools for experimental gene transfer and promising candidates for gene therapy. *J Gene Med* 2:308-316.
- Cartier, N., S. Hacein-Bey-Abina, C. C. Bartholomae, G. Veres, M. Schmidt, I. Kutschera, M. Vidaud, U. Abel, L. Dal-Cortivo, L. Caccavelli, N. Mahlaoui, V. Kiermer, D. Mittelstaedt, C. Bellesme, N. Lahlou, F. Lefrere, S. Blanche, M. Audit, E. Payen, P. Leboulch, B. l'Homme, P. Bougneres, C. Von Kalle, A. Fischer, M. Cavazzana-Calvo, and P. Aubourg. 2009. Hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy with a lentiviral vector in X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy. *Science* 326:818-823.
- 155. Kaiser, J. 2009. Gene therapy. Beta-thalassemia treatment succeeds, with a caveat. *Science* 326:1468-1469.
- 156. Kim, V. N., K. Mitrophanous, S. M. Kingsman, and A. J. Kingsman. 1998. Minimal requirement for a lentivirus vector based on human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J Virol* 72:811-816.
- 157. Zufferey, R., T. Dull, R. J. Mandel, A. Bukovsky, D. Quiroz, L. Naldini, and D. Trono. 1998. Self-inactivating lentivirus vector for safe and efficient in vivo gene delivery. *J Virol* 72:9873-9880.
- 158. Dull, T., R. Zufferey, M. Kelly, R. J. Mandel, M. Nguyen, D. Trono, and L. Naldini. 1998. A third-generation lentivirus vector with a conditional packaging system. *J Virol* 72:8463-8471.
- 159. Stripecke, R., A. A. Cardoso, K. A. Pepper, D. C. Skelton, X. J. Yu, L. Mascarenhas, K. I. Weinberg, L. M. Nadler, and D. B. Kohn. 2000. Lentiviral vectors for efficient delivery of CD80 and granulocyte-macrophage- colony-stimulating factor in human acute lymphoblastic leukemia and acute myeloid leukemia cells to induce antileukemic immune responses. *Blood* 96:1317-1326.
- Pestova, T. V., V. G. Kolupaeva, I. B. Lomakin, E. V. Pilipenko, I. N. Shatsky, V. I. Agol, and C. U. Hellen. 2001. Molecular mechanisms of translation initiation in eukaryotes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98:7029-7036.
- 161. Mizuguchi, H., Z. Xu, A. Ishii-Watabe, E. Uchida, and T. Hayakawa. 2000. IRES-dependent second gene expression is significantly lower than capdependent first gene expression in a bicistronic vector. *Mol Ther* 1:376-382.
- 162. Klump, H., B. Schiedlmeier, B. Vogt, M. Ryan, W. Ostertag, and C. Baum. 2001. Retroviral vector-mediated expression of HoxB4 in hematopoietic cells using a novel coexpression strategy. *Gene Ther* 8:811-817.
- 163. Emerman, M., and H. M. Temin. 1986. Quantitative analysis of gene suppression in integrated retrovirus vectors. *Mol Cell Biol* 6:792-800.

- 164. Amendola, M., M. A. Venneri, A. Biffi, E. Vigna, and L. Naldini. 2005. Coordinate dual-gene transgenesis by lentiviral vectors carrying synthetic bidirectional promoters. *Nat Biotechnol* 23:108-116,
- 165. Shen, Z., G. Reznikoff, G. Dranoff, and K. L. Rock. 1997. Cloned dendritic cells can present exogenous antigens on both MHC class I and class II molecules. *J Immunol* 158:2723-2730.
- 166. Dekaban, G. A., J. Snir, B. Shrum, S. de Chickera, C. Willert, M. Merrill, E. A. Said, R. P. Sekaly, P. J. Foster, and P. J. O'Connell. 2009. Semiquantitation of mouse dendritic cell migration in vivo using cellular MRI. *J Immunother* 32:240-251.
- 167. Lundqvist, A., G. Noffz, M. Pavlenko, S. Saeboe-Larssen, T. Fong, N. Maitland, and P. Pisa. 2002. Nonviral and viral gene transfer into different subsets of human dendritic cells yield comparable efficiency of transfection. *J Immunother* 25:445-454.
- 168. Yin, W., P. Xiang, and Q. Li. 2005. Investigations of the effect of DNA size in transient transfection assay using dual luciferase system. *Anal Biochem* 346:289-294.
- 169. Raper, S. E., N. Chirmule, F. S. Lee, N. A. Wivel, A. Bagg, G. P. Gao, J. M. Wilson, and M. L. Batshaw. 2003. Fatal systemic inflammatory response syndrome in a ornithine transcarbamylase deficient patient following adenoviral gene transfer. *Mol Genet Metab* 80:148-158.
- 170. Hacein-Bey-Abina, S., A. Garrigue, G. P. Wang, J. Soulier, A. Lim, E. Morillon, E. Clappier, L. Caccavelli, E. Delabesse, K. Beldjord, V. Asnafi, E. MacIntyre, L. Dal Cortivo, I. Radford, N. Brousse, F. Sigaux, D. Moshous, J. Hauer, A. Borkhardt, B. H. Belohradsky, U. Wintergerst, M. C. Velez, L. Leiva, R. Sorensen, N. Wulffraat, S. Blanche, F. D. Bushman, A. Fischer, and M. Cavazzana-Calvo. 2008. Insertional oncogenesis in 4 patients after retrovirus-mediated gene therapy of SCID-X1. J Clin Invest 118:3132-3142.
- 171. Wanisch, K., and R. J. Yanez-Munoz. 2009. Integration-deficient lentiviral vectors: a slow coming of age. *Mol Ther* 17:1316-1332.
- 172. Vink, C. A., H. B. Gaspar, R. Gabriel, M. Schmidt, R. S. McIvor, A. J. Thrasher, and W. Qasim. 2009. Sleeping beauty transposition from nonintegrating lentivirus. *Mol Ther* 17:1197-1204.
- 173. Patterson, S., T. Papagatsias, and A. Benlahrech. 2009. Use of adenovirus in vaccines for HIV. *Handb Exp Pharmacol*:275-293.
- 174. Shimao, K., T. Takayama, K. Enomoto, T. Saito, S. Nagai, J. Miyazaki, K. Ogawa, and H. Tahara. 2005. Cancer gene therapy using in vivo electroporation of Flt3-ligand. *Int J Oncol* 27:457-463.
- 175. Liu, J., R. Kjeken, I. Mathiesen, and D. H. Barouch. 2008. Recruitment of antigen-presenting cells to the site of inoculation and augmentation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 DNA vaccine immunogenicity by in vivo electroporation. *J Virol* 82:5643-5649.
- 176. Badiee, A., N. Davies, K. McDonald, K. Radford, H. Michiue, D. Hart, and M. Kato. 2007. Enhanced delivery of immunoliposomes to human dendritic

cells by targeting the multilectin receptor DEC-205. Vaccine 25:4757-4766.

- 177. Hattori, Y., S. Kawakami, Y. Lu, K. Nakamura, F. Yamashita, and M. Hashida. 2006. Enhanced DNA vaccine potency by mannosylated lipoplex after intraperitoneal administration. *J Gene Med* 8:824-834.
- 178. Hattori, Y., S. Kawakami, K. Nakamura, F. Yamashita, and M. Hashida. 2006. Efficient gene transfer into macrophages and dendritic cells by in vivo gene delivery with mannosylated lipoplex via the intraperitoneal route. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 318:828-834.
- 179. Hattori, Y., S. Kawakami, S. Suzuki, F. Yamashita, and M. Hashida. 2004. Enhancement of immune responses by DNA vaccination through targeted gene delivery using mannosylated cationic liposome formulations following intravenous administration in mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 317:992-999.
- van den Berg, J. H., B. Nuijen, T. N. Schumacher, J. B. Haanen, G. Storm, J. H. Beijnen, and W. E. Hennink. 2010. Synthetic vehicles for DNA vaccination. *J Drug Target* 18:1-14.
- 181. Lori, F., J. Trocio, N. Bakare, L. M. Kelly, and J. Lisziewicz. 2005. DermaVir, a novel HIV immunisation technology. *Vaccine* 23:2030-2034.
- 182. Calarota, S. A., D. B. Weiner, F. Lori, and J. Lisziewicz. 2007. Induction of HIV-specific memory T-cell responses by topical DermaVir vaccine. *Vaccine* 25:3070-3074.
- Toscano, M. G., M. Delgado, W. Kong, F. Martin, M. Skarica, and D. Ganea. 2010. Dendritic cells transduced with lentiviral vectors expressing VIP differentiate into VIP-secreting tolerogenic-like DCs. *Mol Ther* 18:1035-1045.
- 184. Dong, C., A. M. Janas, J. H. Wang, W. J. Olson, and L. Wu. 2007. Characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in immature and mature dendritic cells reveals dissociable cis- and transinfection. J Virol 81:11352-11362.
- 185. Engelmayer, J., M. Larsson, M. Subklewe, A. Chahroudi, W. I. Cox, R. M. Steinman, and N. Bhardwaj. 1999. Vaccinia virus inhibits the maturation of human dendritic cells: a novel mechanism of immune evasion. *J Immunol* 163:6762-6768.
- 186. Samuelsson, C., J. Hausmann, H. Lauterbach, M. Schmidt, S. Akira, H. Wagner, P. Chaplin, M. Suter, M. O'Keeffe, and H. Hochrein. 2008. Survival of lethal poxvirus infection in mice depends on TLR9, and therapeutic vaccination provides protection. *J Clin Invest* 118:1776-1784.
- 187. Lapteva, N., M. R. Seethammagari, B. A. Hanks, J. Jiang, J. M. Levitt, K. M. Slawin, and D. M. Spencer. 2007. Enhanced activation of human dendritic cells by inducible CD40 and Toll-like receptor-4 ligation. *Cancer Res* 67:10528-10537.
- 188. Hanks, B. A., J. Jiang, R. A. Singh, W. Song, M. Barry, M. H. Huls, K. M. Slawin, and D. M. Spencer. 2005. Re-engineered CD40 receptor enables potent pharmacological activation of dendritic-cell cancer vaccines in vivo. *Nat Med* 11:130-137.

- 189. Szymczak, A. L., and D. A. Vignali. 2005. Development of 2A peptidebased strategies in the design of multicistronic vectors. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* 5:627-638.
- Szymczak, A. L., C. J. Workman, Y. Wang, K. M. Vignali, S. Dilioglou, E. F. Vanin, and D. A. Vignali. 2004. Correction of multi-gene deficiency in vivo using a single 'self-cleaving' 2A peptide-based retroviral vector. *Nat Biotechnol* 22:589-594.

2 - 2 - 2 2 - 2 - 1

Republic prime in the second state of the second state of the second when here is a second state of the second

uden swartels for one for each interest and an entry of the solution of the so

or DC studio

Appendix 1. Proof of ethics approval. A copy of the document showing official approval from the University Council on Animal Care for using the C57Bl/6 mice for DC studies.

		FRU	TOCOL	RENE	EWAL F	OKM		-						De
	LIFCTON	ESTINA		A TRA	1	-		-	-		-	-		
tonation.	for States - Co	The state				10	-		0.20	07.0		-		
Project 1	illin: The mai	NEW MIL. Ye											-	-
it vive M	til innegining to a	anna delver	y and efficacy of o	bendrifte of	ell vanipres		-		-			_		
B. NV	ESTIGATO	R DECL	ARATION	-	The second	-			1		-		-	
Cour	nimals used in scil on Animal	Care and th	ch project will be a requirements o	d the prov	vincial ingisted	e with the i	The A		6 y 24	* 5 + 5	2. Ac	- 14	-	
L I con	from their films .	Aronal Libe i	Protocor accurate	ally segmen	senis the prope	units beau						******		
R. Laco	and re-sponte its	dity for proc	edures performe	d on Amin	with on this per-	jest.								
M. Lwill	ensure that a	ing under sites All	t who will perfor	in any and	nil celeted pe		within I	na bed	topol a		angle	fe all		
1. 1 100	port the abov	declaration	N YES & TH	day's Deb	a anna talaityye M	ay 22, 201		-	-	-		-	-	-
VES		in this section	can, I and horize th	e talimis	with of this fo	rm and its	electron	e della	ery to	PURP	đ	12-04		
S. Baseli Teals	ra Data Group	Williams pill De Million status	erigilida) in subr 196	net this fo	rea and to rece	ive a copy	of suff-	ritativ	n visi	mai	-	y beh	wit.	
<u> </u>			546 ·											
ethorizat	ion Date (mmil	Rilys 1 /				ingen allure t								
					Sector 1									
					Sec. 1									
													1999	
CRA	NUES AT	RENEWA	L CONFIRM	ATION	- FICE UT	e Only				1				
From so	that NO CHA	APCES and	W NEW ELEMEN	TS to this	AUP - other th	an statting	heve	CONTRA	d amo	- 16	linet A	115		
Protoco	A Most Station	NGC'S and o	NEW ELEMENT	S to the p	Finite.	excessly a	direction of	WILL	Bell Berl	A trut				_
THR		OGRESS	REFURI		-	-								3 4/4
- Gand	arsy providential		Mingen t la thur	there it	s of seglacem	रस्तुमे व	li næ	Stulu	HETCHY (it of a	12 11 1	n Gra	de	-
e PAST	IN STREET, ST	inty mental loop	H Burne and to	n gebra an de	14 11 11 15 18 18 14 11 11 11 15 18	19 + 5 ÷ 5 + 3 (* + * + 5	455 3120	Han 24	torne a	-	-		e.	10-000
No and	mails were up	and during t	the pass Protoco	of Wyar.	Statures and	to barries	Condition of the					-		-
	IAL USE C International International ICESIA AL	CMPLIC automotion the tea comp company	ATIONS PRO	DGRES	S REPORT	ng scand ei Russ crim Exig Rug cast Pri	nd phore the state, Mociel 1	s Abit	: 414-344	n. Ate	eist v	-	autes autes	U
ANIM ANIM ANIM ANAM	ALUSE C Incore to the ord in the second of	CMPLIC Cultures the to comp the to comp th	ATIONS PRO The regeneration and the property RATION UPC records red as these Armonic L UPCATE This	DGRES 1 - spectrum - prast - prast - discussion DATE - discussion - discuss	S REPORT mental concern mental concern MROTOCOL V tree during the he Anamual Up second (2)	n s and e Noss of a East Dess of a East Produced	elecel 1	ANI	en pie	A die	vitete	1 404		9
ANIM ANIM	ALUSE C HEREIS I HER HEREIS I HEREIS CESIA AL HEREIS I HEREIS HEREIS I HEREIS HEREIS HEREIS I HEREIS HEREIS I HEREIS	CMPLIC Guidentes the to comp Control of the Complete Control of the Control of th	ATIONS PRO	DGRES Color Co	S REPORT	nij si prodiveno nij si prodiveno Prodotecno Prodotecno Volar volar		ANI ANI	enter de la constante de la co	an li	et stiv			U RC1
ANIH ANIH Martin Anih Anih Anih Anih Anih Anih Anih An	ALUSE C received in the rest rest rest CESIA AL rest fills for rest rest fills for rest rest fills rest f	CMPLIC Contracts The tar Comp Description	ATIONS PRO and free sectors for the test RATION UPC retwents ed on these Annual L UPCATE Tage	DGRES	S REPORT	L III & and en IVA & and en EXA, III (2001) Pr Produced Vener Ven	ni pice intaic, stecel 1 / [] -11	A Mir Abir Gall.	Annual lan	Adden and a second	intitu intitu intitu intitu intitu intitu intitu intitu intitu intitu intitu			g (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c) (c)
Anihi Anihi Bacas Anihi Anihi Anihi Bacas Anih Anih Anih Anihi Anih Anihi Anih	ALUSE C Internet into a internet into a CEENA AL INTOCOL PE INTOCOL PE INTOCOL PE INTOCOL PE INTOCOL PE	CMPLIC optimizes and the sectors optimized and beauty optimized and beau	ATIONS PRO The register of the text and the Data Street of the RATION UPC Interests	AGRES	S REPORT	Na and en Nasa de la Esta, la post Pri e Pradocen Vear	net phine install, effected 1 7 - 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	S and ANT Gett.	entre la constante esta para esta constante esta para esta constante esta constan	and in a second se	e tatilu ne de ing de ing de i			
ANIM ANIA ANIA ANIA ANIA ANIA ANIA ANIA	ALUSE C UNCESTATION OF THE SECOND CEEDIAAL MUSIC SECOND OF THE SECOND TOCOL PI TOCOL PI	CMPLIC optimites the second control of the control	ATIONS PRO and fire in general decisions for its ATION UPC interests interests interests Int	DATE	S REPORT	Voar Voar Voar Voar Voar	nul phone metaboly eleccel 1 7 - "II metaboly eleccel 1 1 - "II metaboly electronic de electronic de	ANI ANI Part.	Anima Picture	and in site of matter is matter is matter matter is is is is is is is is is is is is is	et stilv er stilv ing te l At sur- carst			9 8 8 9 8 9 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9
Anith Anith	ALUSE C UNCESSION OF THE SECOND CESSION OF THE SECOND CESSION OF THE SECOND SECOND OF THE SECOND OF TH	CMPLIC optimizes optimizes optimizes control c	ATIONS PRO The regeneration of the text RATION UPC RATION UPC Research and the State and the State Annual LUPOATE This ELOW PER PER	DGRES Caspetino Caspetino Caspetino Caspetino DATE	S REPORT	Vear Vear Vear Vear Vear Vear Vear Vear	ni pine nebity elecel 1 /1	A NET	Annual Longer	Antion I I	ing the local sectors of the l			
Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Comp Anila Ani	AL USE C Incrementations Incrementations CESIA AL Incrementations Inc	CMPLIC Construction Constructio	ATIONS PRO The regeneration and an item Amount EL UPCATE Turs ELCOW PER PER ELCOW PER PER Frank	CORESCIPCION CONTRACTOR CONTRACTO	S REPORT	Vaar Vaar Vaar Vaar Vaar Vaar Vaar Vaar	nul prime pressient effected 1 7 - 11 - 11 - nuturing a 7 - 11 - 11 - 11 - 11 - 11 - 11 - 11 -	ANT ANT GET	Annual Internet	Addre II Addre II Add	In the second se		se sino	g 801
Anilia Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Comp Anila Comp Anila Ani	AL USE C International International CESIA AL INTERNATIONAL I	CMPLIC Construints of Construints The full Construints Description State Internet	ATIONS PRO The repertor and the three tests and an these Amounts EL UPCATE These ELCOW PER PER PERF COND A	CORRESSION CARLENT CONTRACTOR CARLENT CONTRACTOR CO	S REPORT	Vaar Konstantii EAR IIII (1997) Arradocco Vaar Vaar Vaar Konstantii Vaar Vaar Konstantii Vaar Konstantii Vaar	nul policies encase; second 1 7 - 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	A Nor ANT Centr.	Annual Longer	And a second sec	A part			
Anila An	ALUSE C Integration and integration an	COMPLIC Control law of the second second second before the complete the second	ATIONS PRO and Ary Constant and an these Amounts EL UPCATE These ELCOW PER PER	CORRESS Caspetitic Cas	S REPORT mental conform mental conform NEOTOCOL V teles during ill second conformation network of the second second conformation mental conformati	Voar Kopented State Stat	nd phine installer states in relations and the states in relations in the states in the states	A ANT ANT CART.	Annual los	and real real real real real real real real	A period		se anno 1	
Anili An	ALUSE C Integration of the Integration of th	COMPLIC Constants Constant	ATIONS PRO and the second sec	CORRESS Caspentin Caspent	S REPORT mental control MRDTOCOL V MRDTOCOL V MRDTOCOL V MRDTOCOL V MRDTOCOL V MRDTOCOL V MRDTOCOL V MRDTOCOL V MRDTOCOL V MRDTOCOL V Zeochine MRDTOC Zeochine MRDTOC	Voar Voar Kanster Voar Voar Voar Voar Kanster Voar Voar	nd phineses escales escales and the second to an and the second to an and the second to an and the second to the s	ANG ANG ANG ANG ANG ANG ANG ANG ANG ANG	Annual Control of the second o	and realized in a second secon	A log the log			
Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Anila Course Anila Anila Course Anila Anila Course Anila	ALUSE C Integra Anton Integra Anton CESSA AL Integra Anton Integra Anton Integra	COMPLIC Constants Constant	ATIONS PRO and the period of the two and the Basis Amounts and an Basis Amounts ELOWOPE BLIPPER Party Period of the PER Party Period of the	CORRESSION CARES	SREPOR mental control mental control NEOTOCOL V MEDIOCOL V Inter Anamad Urb Mental Control Mental Control Mental Control SPECIES One Species Per Row Date of Additional Res for Each of Species Manager	Voar Voar Voar Voar Voar Voar Voar Voar	nu phine installer elected 1 installer metaller installe	ANA ANA ANA ANA ANA ANA ANA ANA ANA ANA	Annual Control of Cont	And a second sec				
Anili Maria Maria Maria Ania Ania Provide Composition	AL USE C Integra handle is to reach the integra handle Integra handle Int	CMPLUC Constants Const Con	ATIONS PRO ATIONS PRO ATION UP: 10-12- ATION UP: 10-12- ATION UP: 10-12- ATION UP: 10-12- ATION UP: 10-12- ATION UP: 10-12- This Amounts ELOW PE II PER ELOW PE II PER Cato A Cato	CORRESS Casperior Casperior Casperior Notaria Casperior NATE	SREPORT mental contemportal ARDITOCOL Y and parts, div ARDITOCOL Y and parts, div ARDITOCOL Y and parts, div and parts, div ARDITOCOL Y and parts and parts	Voar Voar Voar Voar Voar Voar Voar Voar		ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI	Annual Annua Annual Annual Ann	ALC IN CONTRACT OF				
ANIM ANIA ANIA ANIA ANIA ANIA PRO COMP ANIANIA ANI	AL USE C Increase and the formation of the formation Increase and the formation of the formation Increase and t	CMPLUC Constants Const C	ATIONS PRO ATIONS PRO ATION UPO ATION UPO ATION UPO ATION UPO ATION UPO ATION UPO ATION UPO ATION UPO ATION UPO ATION ATION ATION ATION ATION ATIONA ATION ATIONA ATION ATIONA ATION ATIONA ATION ATIONA ATION ATIONA ATION ATIONA ATIONA ATION ATIONA A	CORRESS Casperior Casperio	S REPORT mental evences mental evences metal evences and peen, doi NARDTOCOL Y tase during if and peen doi not peen doi no	Vear Expension Vear V	ete cel 1 decel 1 d	And	Annual and a set of the set of th	And a second sec				
Anilla Anilla	AL USE C UNCESSION OF CEESSION OF CEESSION OF CEESSION OF CEESSION OF CEESSION OF CEESSION OF CEESSION CEES	CMPLIC Constantion	ATIONS PRC difference procession and the endpoints of ATION UPC ATION UPC ATION UPC ATION UPC ATION UPC ATION UPC ATION ATION ATIONS ATION ATION ATIONS ATION ATIONS ATIONA ATIONA A	CGRESS Caseful Control of Caseful Control of Casefu	S REPORT mental entities mental entities mental entities metal perit, entities metal perit, entities metal perit, entities metal control of the metal contro					All of a second	A per ter and			
Anilu An	AL USE C UNCESSANDED INCESSANDED CESSAAD INCESSAAD	CMPLIC: Constantion Constanti	ATIONS PRC differ on portion differ on portion differ on portion differ on portion differ on portion RATION UPC RATION UPC RATIONU	CORESSION CASESION CA	S REPORT mental entities mental entities mental entities representations repre			ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI						
Anilu An	AL USE C UNCERSION OF CONTRACTOR UNCERSION OF CONTRACTOR COESIA AL INVESSION OF CONTRACTOR INVESSION OF CONTRACTOR INVESSION COESIAN INVESSION IN	CMPLUC Constantion	ATIONS PRO The reperted and the their devices and an their Amount EL UPCATE These Converts	CORESSION CASESION CA	S REPOR mental concern mental concern REDTOCOL V the during if anocer (2) The Animal Up anocer (2) The Animal Up anocer (2) First Research SPECIES One SPECIES One SPECIES One SPECIES One SPECIES One SPECIES One Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse Mouse	Complete		ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI ANI		ALC W				
Anilu Anilu Anilu Anilu Anilu Com Anilu An	AL USE C UNCERSION OF CONTROL OF	COMPLEC Constantion Constantio	ATIONS PRO The reperts and the Bush Amount EL UPCATE Turs EL UPCATE EL UPCATE Turs EL UPCATE Turs EL UPCATE EL UPCATE Turs EL UPCATE EL UPCATE Turs EL UPCATE Turs EL UPCATE EL UPCATE Turs EL UPCATE EL UPCAT	CORRESS CARESTIC CARE	S REPOR mental contourned REDTOCOL I REDTOCOL I the Animal Up association association association SPECIES Oper SPECIES Oper SPECIES Oper Species Per Row Data da Mouse	Comparison C		ANI ANI Coll Sector Sec	Annual Langer	And a second sec				
ANIMA ANIA ANAA ANAA ANAA ANAA ANAA ANAA	AL USE C Increase and the Fool Increase and	COMPLEC Construction of an encountry of the target of an encountry of an encountry between the encountry of an encountry of an encountry of an encountry of an encountry of an encountry of an encountry of an encountry of an encountry of an encountry of an encountry of an encountry of an encountry of an encountry of an encountry of an	ATIONS PRO The reperts and in thus Annual Convents Convent Conven	CORRESS CASE	S REPOR mental control mental control REDITOCOL V REDITOCOL V and parts, mile REDITOCOL V and parts, mile REDITOCOL V and parts REDITOCOL V and parts REDITOCOL V and parts REDITOCOL V and parts REDITOCOL V SPECIES Obs SPECIES Obs SPECIES Obs SPECIES Obs SPECIES Obs SPECIES Obs Mouse	Voar	etacol 1		Annual Control of Cont	And a second sec				